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A EEF
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRHRE

GROUP RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the current year of 2018/19 was
HK$717,614,000 (2017/18: HK$749,280,000) and the overall profit was
HK$20,301,000 (2017/18: HK$35,043,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Revenue of the year under review was 4% less than the previous year,
and the overall profit was down by 42%. The main reasons for the
drop of profit were the significant reduction of revaluation gains on
our investment properties as well as the lesser profits from our Wuxi
investment.

Our core garment business despite all the unfavourable political and
economical adversities in the year under review was able to yield a profit
from operations of HK$16,259,000 as compared to HK$17,096,000 of
the year before, with a 5% decrease.

Our China operation in Panyu and Guigang had a difficult time for the
year under review. The even spread of orders over the high and low
seasons as well as an increase of orders contributed to the positive
result. However the disorder in global trade environment caused by the
current exacerbating trade wars and Brexit has already affected our
operation in China.

Our factories in Bangladesh in the year under review incurred a loss.
The change of import regulations by the Bangladesh government had
affected our deliveries plus inadequate orders as well as big increase in
our operating expenses attributed to this negative result.

The high demand for production in our Myanmar factory for both woven
and knitted garments had given rise to a profit in the year under review.
The knit plant which started manufacturing only in January 2019 is now in
full force and has same production capacity as the woven plant.

Trade wars, national environmental policies, rising cotton costs, stagnant
yarn prices and interest expenses from the Ethiopia project had affected
our Wuxi investment’s performance, but thanks to the weak Reminbi that
had helped greatly to improve the profitability despite of the low gross
margin and increase in interest costs.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRE

OUTLOOK

The coming year will likely be very challenging. The China/U.S. trade war
will affect our China operations as we mainly produce for the U.S. higher
end brands there. To deal with the situation, the management has started
to diversify our production to more countries like Vietham and Indonesia
besides our own factories in Myanmar and Bangladesh. Business in U.K.
and Europe has been slow and the weak pound sterling and Euro make
trading with these markets difficult.

APPRECIATION

| would like, on behalf of the Board and shareholders, to express our
appreciation to the Company’s employees for their hard work and loyal
service to the Company during the past year.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

- Y
EEENWRED N
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS . ... & E g S, M
2019 2018
SR JUE RN\ +/-
HK$°000 HK$'000 Change
BT BT o 5 B
Performance Indicators FKBRBE
Revenue A 717,614 749,280 -4%
Gross profit EF 132,584 137,549 —4%
Gross profit margin EFIE 18% 18% 0 pp
Profit from operations #8545 s ) 16,259 17,096 -5%
Operating margin 2878 U F| R 2% 2% 0 pp
Profit attributable to equity EN/NETNE SR N
shareholders of the Company JRE A i ) 22,062 36,558 -40%
Net profit margin R 3% 5% -2 pp
Earnings before interest, taxes, FUBRALE - BLIE - 188 K&
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 9 85 HI Y9 & A [ EBITDA 30,697 49,864 -38%
EBITDA margin EBITDA% 4% 7% -3 pp
Return on total assets AR B R 1.6% 2.6% -1 pp
Financial Health Indicators S 75 IR L 9 B
Cash and bank balances B SOERAT &5 R 323,769 323,112 0%
Net current assets T 387,317 409,486 -5%
Total assets G 1,359,110 1,391,151 2%
Total liabilities HIEHRE 144,365 142,184 2%
Shareholders’ equity Ji HRE 25 1,216,646 1,247,728 2%
Return on shareholders’ equity JE HRORE 25 1] i =R 1.8% 2.9% -1.1pp
Current ratio (times) T (f) 4.7 5.0 6%
Shareholders’ Return Indicators JBe 3K 1 % i
Earnings per share — basic 8 F — B AR $0.11 $0.18 -39%
Dividend per share g 1 B S $0.12 $0.12 0%
Dividend payout S 109% 67% +42 pp
Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure BleW B R EAR Y I
Cash generated from operations REEV G 41,460 19,533 +112%
Capital expenditure — other assets A S — oAt 7,098 2,005 +254%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERENWED

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
HK$717,614,000, a decrease of 4% as compared with HK$749,280,000
of the year before. Due to the significant reduction of our investment
properties revaluation gains and lesser profits from our Wuxi investment,
the overall profit dropped by 42% to HK$20,301,000 (2017/18: a profit of
HK$35,043,000).

GARMENT BUSINESS

Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and Hong Kong Knitters Limited
are the two names that we use to operate our garment business.
We manufacture a wide variety of products that include men’s and
ladies’ shirts, trousers, shorts, polo shirts, T-shirts, jackets and knitted
outerwear, etc. Hong Kong is our Group’s headquarters that handles our
core garment businesses including manufacturing, trading and sourcing.
We have factories in China (Panyu and Guigang), Bangladesh and
Myanmar. Besides Hong Kong and places where we have factories, we
also have offices in China (Dongguan and Hangzhou). These offices not
only provide supports to our own factories, but also monitor and liaise
with our subcontractors and business partners around these areas.

Our core garment business continued to be affected by the trade wars,
Brexit as well as the high increase of our operating expenses. The high
tariffs imposed on Chinese made products by the U.S. government fuel
the urge to diversify our production sources. Besides expanding our own
production facilities in Bangladesh and Myanmar, we will venture into
Vietnam and Indonesia for our production needs.

Our China factories operating under the names of Exquisite Knitters
(Guangzhou) Limited and Whampoa Garment Manufacturing (Guigang)
Co., Ltd. pulled through another difficult year. The increase of orders from
customers and enough orders to fill up our low season’s capacity added
profitability to the results for the year under review. The intense trade war
between China and the U.S. has caused great commotions. Not only has
it impacted our garment division but also hampered our fabrics division
due to the change of preference from cotton to synthetic knitwears. The
new and tightened local environmental laws that came into effect also
added big costs to our operating expenses, and we expect our domestic
sales to drop too. The coming year would be another tough year for our
China operation.

Our Bangladesh factories recorded a loss for the year under review,
reasons being the sudden change of import regulations that resulted in
heavy airfreight expenses; the big increase of 51% of the minimum wage;
the high increase of the operating expenses and the selling prices that
could not be increased. For year 2019/20, all these unfavourable factors
plus the problem of inadequate orders for low season would continue to
disturb our operation. It is hoped that by acquiring more orders at higher
prices and restructuring the factory operation to cut down our operating
expenses, we could reduce the loss to the minimum for the coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERENWED

Our factory in Myanmar — Dagon Talent Garment Limited, recorded a
positive result in the year under review. The demand for our Myanmar
production has increased a lot this year especially from the buyers
from Japan. Besides the woven shirts, they also look for knitted items.
In response to the demand, a knitted garments division was set up in
January 2019 with same capacity as the woven garments division. With
stable orders in both woven and knitted production, stable labour supply,
improved efficiency and the weak local currency, we expect a better
result for the Myanmar operation in the coming year.

OTHER BUSINESS

Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. in which we have a 49%
shareholding is a joint venture that owns several textiles related
companies in Wuxi, China (“Wuxi Group”). The core business of the
Wuxi Group is the production of medium range to high end yarns. The
Wuxi Group recorded a share of profit of HK$12,007,000 in the year
under review (2017/18: HK$14,967,000). Factors that affected their
profitability included trade frictions between China and the U.S.; national
environmental policies; rising cotton costs but not followed by yarn prices
in tandem. Investment in Ethiopia project also added to the interest
expenses. Timely adjustments in product mix helped to improve their
sales and the exchange gains arising from the weak Reminbi against
U.S. Dollars during the year substantially mitigated the reduction in gross
margin and increase of interest costs. All these factors that affected Wuxi
operation would continue to the coming year and the profit outlook for
the Wuxi investment is uncertain.

During the year under review, the Group’s operations continued to be
mainly financed by the internal resources.

As at 31 March 2019, the cash and bank balances of the Group were
approximately HK$323,769,000 (2018: HK$323,112,000). As at 31
March 2019 and 2018, the Group did not have any short term and long
term borrowings.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. As most of the Group’s sales, purchases, cash and
bank balances are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling or Renminbi, the Group may enter into
forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its committed future sales
denominated in the above foreign currencies against the exchange
rate fluctuation when the exposure is significant. As at 31 March
2019, the Group has forward foreign exchange contracts hedging
forecast transactions with net fair value of HK$56,000 (assets) (2018:
HK$2,353,000 (liabilities)), recognised as derivative financial instruments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERENWED

LAW AND REGULATIONS

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on our Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the
full contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated
to promoting equal opportunities for all of our employees in different
areas, including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff
promotion, transfer, and dismissal. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality,
race, religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our
employees. We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and
safety legislations and we have implemented an effective and safe
working environment for our employees.

The Group complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not
identify any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to
workplace quality.

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulfill
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the
manufacturing and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of
relevant standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas
emission, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or
non-hazardous water, etc.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERENWED

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate
citizen and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes.
We encourage staff to join our "YGM Volunteer Team" and participate
in various charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its
corporate social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the
society.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

An environmental, social and governance report will be published on
the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company’s website no later than three months after the publication of the
Company’s annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a
divergence from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and
uncertainties affecting the Group are outlined below. In dealing with
these risk factors and uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with
our stakeholders with the aim of understanding and addressing their
concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be
other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could become material in
the future.

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The global economic recovery has been weaker than expected with
uneven recovery in advanced economies. Downside risks have increased
due to economic pressures and geopolitical tensions such as slowing
growth in emerging markets and the instability in Middle East and Eastern
Europe.

The principal business activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale
of garments and textiles to the customers in Europe, North America and
Mainland China. The industries in which the Group operates are affected
by the economic conditions, consumer spending, contagious disease
outbreaks and currency environment in these regions. Any combination
of these factors or continuing adverse economic conditions in these
regions may adversely affect the Group’s financial position, potential
income, asset value and liabilities.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes
in global economy and macro-economic conditions. Adequate risk
mitigation measures are in place and are constantly reviewed for
enhancement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

Currency Markets

The Group operates on a global basis and earns revenues, incurs costs
and make investments in a number of currencies. The Group’s financial
results are reported in Hong Kong dollars. The majority of reported
revenues are earned in non-Hong Kong currencies. Therefore the Hong
Kong dollar value of reported revenues, profits and cash flows may be
reduced as a result of unfavourable currency exchange rate movements.

The Group adopts a prudent policy to hedge the fluctuation of foreign
exchange rates. The details of the policy are set out in the paragraph of
“Liquidity and Financial Position”.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements
at the local, national and international level. New policies or measures
by governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the
returns delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the
commercial operation of an individual business, with a resulting loss in
revenue and profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures
are in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group, including its subsidiaries but
excluding its joint ventures, employed approximately 4,000 employees.
Remuneration packages are determined by reference to employees’
performance and the prevailing salary levels in the market. In addition, the
Group provides year end double pay, provident fund scheme, medical
insurance and training to staff.

el B

AR B TE 2 R > 3 DL R B R BRI
JE A AR AR BOEAT SR o A SR I S S A DU
T 28 > KA Rk B A L ST LS B
BRI o (R b - R M Y B T ME 5 5 Bl W] RE AR B
WA~ i A0 B 4 I B A T (E AR o

A 45 0 BR T AR DS b R R B o A BR L
R FERE IR ECTRB & & K EARNE] -

Hg - AR B BB R

A 4R T A7 26 B 1 1R 1) 21 2 R ST F) AR 26 S
JE B AT HE A SR B ESIR UL - R SRR R
Bl St AR R B -

7S W AE M T~ I 5KOR I T T B AR B 22 b
W RAE BB BUE - AL g B B
TE -~ EDAER B OB E o BUAT HE AT BT BUK SR
Jith o AN R A B L BUIH KRR > 3T e
A 4R T SEB5 BT E A 09 1] Sk ARV B > LA B AT RE
T R B BH 1k A8 7 5 B P S - B K
it MR -

AR B PR RORE KR 7 35 o S 55 U BOR RISz ik
8L o % 3 BB AR I 4 i O AT B R
wf o DU R o

REF-NAFE=ZA=+—H > AL
o] E AR AR AT -

D £ X% 35 9 8K

AR NEZH=Z1+—H  BaEEEN
AL (F S K E A R B 94,0004 18
B HMASTI2BETI 2R RT B EKRS
A KT R E o BbAh > A A R B R4
KR AREEER - BEA R AR -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 F 1k



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERENWED

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop
long-term relationships with suppliers and subcontractors based on
mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure
high quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers,
suppliers and the public.

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,
quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service
to maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have
access to information about the operation and development of the Group
through annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to
provide customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which
allow the Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

IMPORTANT EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There is no important event affecting the Group which has occurred since
the end of the reporting period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERES

The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business and a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group, can be found in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis set out
on pages 3 to 4 and pages 5 to 11 of the Annual Report respectively.
This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 10 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
are set out in note 25(c) to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK12
cents (2018: HK12 cents) per ordinary share in respect of the year ended
31 March 2019.

DISTRIBUTABILITY OF RESERVES

At 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under
the provisions of section Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
was HK$357,024,000 (2018: HK$391,737,000). After the end of the
reporting period, the directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$24,810,000 (2018: HK$24,810,000) in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2019 (note 25(b)). This dividend has not been
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$20,000 (2018: HK$47,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

The largest customer wREF

Five largest customers in aggregate HHEKREF &5
The largest supplier e R AL E

Five largest suppliers in aggregate K RS A R

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chan Wing Kee

Chan Wing To

Chan Suk Man

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
So Ying Woon, Alan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lin Keping

Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygm.com.hk under “Investor
Relation/Corporate Governance”.

LREP R

AR B AR R E R RF R AEE RE AG A EE
B EE L RBEIMT

Percentage of the Group’s total

A5 A 455 1 A8
2019 2018
—®—JuiE TR — \4E

Sales Purchases Sales  Purchases
i 7 B T

17% 17%

48% 44%
7% 7%
21% 22%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERES

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation. Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Chan Wing
Sun, Samuel, Mr. Lin Keping and Mr. Choi Ting Ki will retire from the
Board by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Stock Exchange”) (“the Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who offered themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Apart from the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules as set out amongst other related party transactions in note 28
to the financial statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES W RO RE s

(@ As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the (a)
directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“the Model
Code”) and which were required to be entered in the register kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO were as follows:

R_E-NE=ZA=+—H > AQA&#
5 R AR 2 B BN LR AR 2 R ST T
N (FE R 2 O B (T8 25 ] ) 56
XVER 2 W) 2 By ~ A B i 1y 12 {5 %
B A AR B SR R ) SEXVIER SR 7 K853 ¥~ b
2% W) 34T @ I3 58 oy AR e Sy A (T A e
STHID) 2 B N & AR o m) e g 2 i 2 HE
f SR A (BLAE 5 AR % S #W‘Tﬂ%ﬂ
E WL B MR A 2 M 2 IR
f’a‘%ﬂﬁi‘*E%%ﬁ%%%?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁzyﬁﬁﬂ
i M2 SR A

Number of ordinary shares

Y6 BBy %

Personal Family Corporate Other

interests interests interests interests
Name of director B4 1IN 7 K 2 VAL £ A b 23
Chan Wing Fui, Peter Bk 2 486,102 9,153,465 - (i) & (ii)
Chan Wing Kee B Akt 8,589,624 319,691 - (i) & (iii)
Chan Wing To B K I8 10,073,389 - = (i) & (i)
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bt 7k A% 6,089,244 250,000 3,604,415 (i
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley JE B 4,535,816 524,000 = (i
Chan Suk Man BI BRI 3,438,466 - = (i) & (i)
So Ying Woon, Alan 33 12,000 S = =
Lin Keping Wi - - - -
Choi Ting Ki RIS - - - -
So Stephen Hon Cheung g - - - -
Li Guangming &SI - - - -
Notes: Viiza

0] 48,032,240 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd. (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan Wing
To, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and Madam
Chan Suk Man and other members of the Chan Family) and its subsidiaries.

(ii) 13,965,280 shares of the Company were held by Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter,
the executor of the estate of the late Dr. Chan Sui Kau.

@iy 2,383,500 shares of the Company were held by Super Team International
Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan Wing
To, Madam Chan Suk Man and other members of the Chan Family.

(o) Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the (b)

directors or their associates, had, under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, nor were they taken to or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or any
interests which are required to be entered into the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or any interests
which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

Other than the interests disclosed in the section “Directors’ Interests
In Shares” in respect of the directors, the following shareholder had
interests in 5% or more of the ordinary share of the Company in issue
as at 31 March 2019, according to the register of interests and short
positions required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

XY L BN P

R F-NEFE=ZA=Z+—H  BRELATES
A HE A | P B B 2 HE 4R Ah o AR AR B IR R 1
S 336M M E A7 B 2 M 1 HE 4 e iR B ad
N R AR T B AT BB 5% E A
it < BERFC BRI

Number of Percentage of

ordinary ordinary shares

shares held in issue

Capacity BEHEBE MNHoHEasak

Name of shareholder JB 3K 44 W BE 23 PE By ¥ H B 43 4 e

Guangzhou Textiles Industry &  J& I &%k 1T & > 2% Beneficial owner 17,806,000 8.61%
Trade Holdings Ltd. S A R R Hu A A (note)
(Kt 3t)

Note: The shares were directly held by Yue Xiu Textiles Co., Ltd., a 100% owned
subsidiary of Guangzhou Textiles Industry & Trade Holdings Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, no other interests required to be recorded in
the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the
Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules are set out amongst related party transactions in note 28(a) to the
financial statements.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors, the connected
transactions were entered into by the Group:

()  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where

applicable.
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B AT W0 A 2 W BT A7 A T R B LIRS -

B b SCRT 48 8 A > A 24 W Sl 90 A R A Al At
JH WL B 7E MR IR 78 77 U 1) 5336k ML E fr B 2 8
HC M G HE £
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VECKE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

There are no other connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed in this report in accordance with the requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note 22
to the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

To comply with the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules, the Company has set up an audit committee
(the “Committee”) with written terms of reference, for the purposes of
reviewing and providing supervision on the financial reporting process
and internal control of the Group. The Committee comprises four
independent non-executive directors.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 127 of the annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019

AN A B AN AZ SO > IR St A A A
i ) <7 5 B2 A5 36 05 YE JI) 2530005 [ JiE 82 Jit 15
5 e TR A B R | W2 (R
Wt WA ) 557 40%% [ B S A i b T B4R i 2t 5 45 B
T AZ oy B A SET BR ) » AR R Y A A R 2 52
S AF R R o B BT AR R CE LA S 14A
B EL R A SR I A R ST ) B A e Y 2 R
B BK A o A2 R B R BRI R A B S
g 5 Iy

B Y62 A L At Bl 28 52 oy ZE AR B b T BRI 2 14 A
e B4R ZE S A 43R P R

ARl #

A SR R ARG B 2 R R RS R I RE22

ERZHA

R AR T A B B 81 4 BT R 2 e R ST B 2 )
o AnFE - MEZZAEEG ((ZE®))
M7 A 2 M R > R LA B R B A S
Z A R Y e N R S - R e W
2SI AT E ALK -

A 42 [ A 25 TR B BUAE 2 SRR R LA
8 A2l AR R 127 H o

23 5 F B

WA 2 Al 2 BB RHIE AR 2 R S
H o AN FN I AR R BB HESRR A AR
BEARDH EW R E 2 A~ A B g7 GZ
25% -

TRG g wH A S T MR B AR o M R %
o FERME A Z AN Al BOREFERE L
FE PR B RERE B AR R g SR
B BT oy A% F AL SR

e
T
Bt ok 45

HE > “F—FEANASTHA

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED &L R &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £k

17



18

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to
uphold a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes
that the principles of transparency, accountability and independence are
essential for protecting the interests of the Company and maximizing
shareholder value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the financial year ended 31 March 2019, except for the deviation from
code provision A.4.1 of the Code, pursuant to which the non-executive
directors of the Company should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The non-executive directors of Company are not
appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election requirements at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with Articles 96 and 105 of the Company’s articles of
association.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall
objectives and strategic directions, monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance. It also decides on matters relating to annual
and interim results, audited financial statements, notifiable transactions,
appointment and re-appointment of directors, major acquisitions and
disposals, material contracts, risk management, major financings and
borrowings, accounting and dividends policies. The Board delegates
day-to-day operations of the Company to the management of the Group
and also instructs the management to implement the Board’s decisions
and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

The Board comprises seven executive directors and four independent
non-executive directors. The number of independent non-executive
directors represents at least one-third of the Board in accordance with
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors
bring a diverse range of expertise, skills and experience to provide
effective guidance and an outside perspective to all major decisions of
the Group.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the directors as well as
relationships between them are set out in the section of “Directors and
Management”.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 5, 3, 1, 1 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.
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The attendance at the Board and respective Board committees meetings
held in the year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

EHEAREHRZHONBE_F - LF=A
= Bk B R P R AT w2 W AT Bk S
o

Risk Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination ~Management General
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
HH0  BHEHA  EMEHA  RAZHG HRENZHG RAMEAR
Executive directors HhEs

Chan Wing Fui, Peter Wik% 505 N/A 17 17 17 17
Chan Wing Kee Bk 5/5 N/A 111 171 17 17
Chan Wing To Bk 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A n
Chan Suk Man BIBRR 5/5 N/A N/A N/A il "
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Bk & 5/5 N/A NA NA N/A 171
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley B 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
So Ying Woon, Alan 430} 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1 11

Independent non-executive directors LRER R
Lin Keping s 5/5 33 1 1 N/A 0/1
Choi Ting Ki %1% 55 33 111 111 N/A 111
So Stephen Hon Cheung s 5/5 33 11 " N/A n
Li Guangming 23t 5/5 33 1 1 N/A 0/1

The 2018 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 3 September
2018. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed out as
above. The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee, the members of Remuneration Committee
and the external auditor of the Company, attended the AGM to answer
questions raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general meeting
are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows
good corporate governance practices. Voting results were posted on the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites on the day of the AGM.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed with the
Company in writing his independence from the Company in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that all independent
non-executive directors of the Company are independent with reference
to Rule 3.13.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND

The Board is committed to ensure that a good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision D.3.1 of the Code which are set out
below:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and the
Managing Director of the Company is Mr. Chan Wing Kee. The roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman
of the Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and
overall business development planning. The Managing Director’s duty
is to oversee the execution of daily business activities. The division of
responsibilities at the Board level is to ensure a balance of power and
authority.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the directors.
The Company provides tailored induction programme to new director
upon his appointment to equip him with the appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and to ensure that he is fully
aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the relevant law and
the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to update
the Directors on the new amendments to the corporate governance code
and relevant Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to
the legislative and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular
basis for their information. The Company also encourages Directors to
attend relevant seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. During the year, all directors participated in
continuous professional development in compliance with code provision
A.6.5 of the Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an
insurance policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors
and senior management are protected from any liability arising from the
performance of their duties.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the
affairs of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up
with written terms of reference. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the
expenses of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference. The Audit Committee comprises four independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung. The members’ attendance to the Audit Committee
meeting is listed out on page 19.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s
internal control system and its execution through the review of the work
undertaken by the internal and external auditors, evaluating financial
information and related disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee has, inter
alia, reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor
the interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has
met with external auditor twice a year, in the absence of management,
to discuss any issues arising from the audit and any other matters the
auditor may wish to raise. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
independence and quality of work of KPMG and has recommended to
the Board to re-appoint KPMG as auditor for the year ending 31 March
2020.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from
that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented
by the Audit Committee.

AAAEFE RN > AN T C % PR R B
MEEEHRE  DMAEFLHRELAR
B2 55 JB AT WS I T E A Y A o] S AR S AR IR

ERZHE

EHRPCRLELEZRG - FMERE -4
ZHELEBEMREZA® > WIRELEEAR
AR EREER 2 MEFZEESHAE
TME R - R E R e R UE
TTHBE LR BEEEIL TS RE L HER
R B AL F A

wRZHE

AR A B MO EALZ B w3 A T RE
B FZEZRGQBENLABLIFRITES >
A 2 BRE S SE A~ BEEE R ST A - BRIEE A K
WA W BRERESC A MAEER - FH
ZAEGEHR TR HRIIRFE19H -

FRERFGEEAREEAR LA MBREN T
L BB AR AR A S B A A AT R AR
A A AR 2> ) R0 AR B A o B R AT UL R A
B OB A B B BB S 5y B A
25w B Rk B B E OB RE DT A R - BT
R R RGBS R > LA B TR 2 B0 B
HREMARBERZER L

WE_Z—NF=ZA=1T—HILFEERN  F&
Z B O B RN B R B A W A T R
W e 2 A SRR DURE PR AS 42 [ B 5 R AT
B AR E At A AR R - AL B g
J& A2 B DUT - B AT S A R A 4F T UK &
T - DA s E w0 AT AT S R A% B
] RE TR AT T Kb S5 0H - AL B G IRE R
BIGBCE RS H R B R TR R
HHREHFGEM RS ARG SEEE A RE
TOREZHA =4 — HIRFE 2 BB -

MAEEN EHRGUBEEFEZZEFELA
B IMEER M EFE L B RS AR

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED &L R &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £k

21



22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRSE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Committee comprises two executive directors, namely Mr. Chan
Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, and four independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Lin
Keping. The members’ attendance to the Remuneration Committee
meeting is listed out on page 19.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. It takes into
consideration factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors. It would also take into account whether the emoluments offered
are appropriate given the duties and performance of the respective
individuals concerned and whether such emoluments are competitive and
sufficiently attractive to retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ emoluments are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive directors, namely
Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Kee, and four independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lin Keping, Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Choi
Ting Ki. The members’ attendance to the Nomination Committee meeting
is listed out on page 19.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-election of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing
director. The Nomination Committee will consider the suitability of the
candidate on the basis of his professional qualification, skills, experience
and background.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy
(“Policy”) which sets out a policy of considering a number of factors
when deciding on appointments to the Board and the continuation of
those appointments, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution (considering factors like skills, knowledge and
experience) that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board noted that the measurable objectives have been set for
achieving diversity on the Board. In addition, the Board is satisfied that
its composition is appropriate being considered the skills, experience and
attributes of the Directors. The Nomination Committee of the Company
will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review
the policy as appropriate.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination Committee
performed the following work:

()  reviewed the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board diversity
policy of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of INEDs;

(i) made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Director; and

(iv) reviewed the directors nomination policy of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee comprises four executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Ms. Chan Suk
Man and Mr. So Ying Woon, Alan. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing Fui,
Peter. The members’ attendance to the Risk Management Committee
meeting is listed out on page 19.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-related matters.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by
the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

(i)  financial results;

(i) cash flow situation;

(i)  business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earnings;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;
(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii)

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.
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The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group comprises 5 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior executive are set out in the
section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2019 the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:
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Number of senior executives

T RATBON B H

Emoluments i 4x
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0%t £1,000,000%: ¢ 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7¢ £ 2,000,000%: 7T 4
)
DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S HHREBEENAR YRR T

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 31 to 37.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to statutory audit
work of the Group amounted to HK$1,832,000 (2018: HK$1,657,000),
of which a sum of HK$1,740,000 (2018: HK$1,604,000) was paid or
payable to the Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor,
KPMG and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in statutory audit and
non-audit were HK$1,740,000 (2018: HK$1,604,000) and HK$407,000
(2018: HK$418,000) respectively. The non-audit services principally
comprise tax and internal control review services provided to the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding
director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout the year
under review.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management
framework, and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with
overseeing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management,
while management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems. The Risk Management Committee is
responsible for coordinating risk management activities, and to report at
least annually to the Board. However, the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment
of principal risks from the external and internal environments at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment. Action plans have been
developed and risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal
risk. The risk owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper
implementation of these action plans. The process is closely monitored
by the Risk Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the
Board believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such
changes in our business and the external environment, and considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control system was
effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had
implemented procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information so that potential inside information
can be promptly identified and escalated up for deciding whether an
announcement should be made in order to ensure compliance with
the continuous obligations under the Listing Rules and the statutory
obligation to disclose information under the SFO.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external
consultant to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has
assisted the Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal
controls system for certain selected processes. The assessment results
and proposed improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed
with Management and were reported to the Audit Committee.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the
Vice Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction
and professional development of directors. The Company Secretary
also keeps proper records of all Board and Committee meetings.
The biography of the Company Secretary is set out on page 30. The
Company Secretary has undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional
training during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
(‘6EGM”)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that
an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on requisition, as
provided by the Companies Ordinance. According to section 566 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors of the Company are required to
call a general meeting if the Company has received requests to do so
from shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for
a general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered
office of the Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygm.com.hk
and must be authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must
call a general meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the
requests to do so. The meeting called must be held on a date not more
than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the
Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for
handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited
22 Tai Yau Street

San Po Kong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygm.com.hk
Telephone: (852) 2327 5111
Facsimile: (852) 2352 2286

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA

Aged 73, Mr. Chan received a Master’s degree in Administrative Science
from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined the Group in the same
year. He was appointed as Director and Managing Director in 1971 and
1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of directors in 1987.
Mr. Chan is at present the Chairman of the board of directors and has
held directorships in a number of subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan
was the Chairman of the board of directors of YGM Trading Limited from
2010 to 2015, and is at present the executive director of YGM Trading
Limited. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in garment manufacturing
and marketing in the Far East and the USA.

Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

Aged 72, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering
in 1970. He joined the Group in 1970 as Production Manager and later
became Sales Manager. He was appointed as Director in 1977 and
Managing Director in 1987. He is also an Executive Director of YGM
Trading Limited; Independent Non-executive Director of Kingboard
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Kingboard Chemical Holdings
Limited). Mr. Chan has participated in many textile negotiations with
the USA and Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He is a Standing
Committee Member of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National
People’s Congress of China, Ex-member of Commission on Strategic
Development of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region; Ex-member of
Economic Council of Macau Special Administrative Region; Ex-member
of the Textile Advisory Board of Hong Kong; Ex-Committee Member of
the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

Chan Wing To, PhD

Aged 68, Mr. Chan joined YGM Singapore in 1978. He was appointed as
Executive Director of the Group in 1983 and YGM Trading Ltd in 1987.
Mr. Chan received a Doctor of Philosophy degree in economics from the
University of Rochester, USA in 1978. He has extensive experience in the
textile and garment business.

Chan Suk Man, MSc

Aged 71, Ms. Chan received Master of Science Degrees from the
University of Windsor, Canada in 1973 and Case Western Reserve
University USA in 1975. Madam Chan joined the Group in 1976 and was
appointed as Executive Director in 1993.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Aged 71, Mr. Chan received a Bachelor's degree from University of
Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as a Chartered
Accountant in 1973. He was the Company Secretary of the Group from
1974 to 1988 and has been an Executive Director since 1977. Mr. Chan
was the Managing Director of YGM Trading Limited from 1987 to 2006
and the Chief Executive Officer of YGM Trading Limited from 2006 to
2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board of directors of YGM
Trading Limited from 2010 and was re-designated as the Chairman of
board of directors of YGM Trading Limited in September 2015. Mr. Chan
has been the Chairman of the board of directors of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, BBS, JP

Madam Chan joined the Group in 1973 and appointed as the Director
in 19883. She is also the Vice Chairman of the board of directors of YGM
Trading Limited. Madam Chan, aged 68, has extensive experience
of management in the garment retail and wholesale business. She is
a Member of Fashion Industry Training Advisory Committee of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region, a Council Member of the Hong
Kong Trade Development Council (‘“HKTDC”), the Chairman of Staff &
Finance Committee of HKTDC, the Executive Committee Member of the
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Vice President
of the Guangdong Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment, a
Council Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (“PolyU”) and
the Chairman of Advisory Committee on Textile and Clothing Industries
of PolyU. She received a Bachelor's degree from Nottingham Trent
University, the United Kingdom in 1973.

So Ying Woon, Alan

Aged 69, Mr. So received a Bachelor's degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1974. Mr. So joined the Group in 1974 and
was promoted to the position of Sales Manager in 1976. He has been
the General Manager since 1993. Mr. So was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in 2005.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lin Keping

Aged 80, Mr. Lin has been an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company since 2004. Mr. Lin is an engineer, graduated from Beijing
University of Posts and Telecommunications in 1963. He is a member
of the Eighth National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and an executive member of the Eighth All-
China Federation of Industry and Commerce. He has served in postal
and telecommunication research institutes, the Ministry of Posts and
Telecommunications and other organisations for years, and was an
executive vice president of China Minsheng Bank Corp. Ltd. He is also an
Independent Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

Choi Ting Ki

Aged 64, is a felow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the Department of
Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same year and has
held various positions, including Partner of the audit department of KPMG
Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office, Senior
Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired
from KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2012. Mr. Choi
is also an Independent Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited.

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Aged 63, has been a director of an accounting firm T.M Ho, So & Leung
CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House Group Limited
(stock code: 8241). He has extensive experience in the commercial
sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public practice
working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada. He
holds a bachelor’'s degree in commerce from the University of British
Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of Certified
Management Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company and YGM Trading Limited
(stock code: 375) since September 2017, Teamway International Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239) since August 2017, Pinestone
Capital Limited (stock code: 804) since May 2015 and PINE Technology
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079) since September 2002, whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. So was
an independent non-executive director of Milan Station Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1150) from May 2011 to February 2017, whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Li Guangming

Aged 67, Mr. Mr. Li was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2018. He was appointed as deputy
chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief
of factory in February 1991. He has held various positions in Wuxi City
Guolian Development (Group) Company Limited and its subsidiaries.
Among other things, he was appointed as the general manager of
Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited (now known as Wuxi
No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October 2005, and
subsequently served as the chairman of its board until December 2014.
He had also held various management roles in Wuxi No. 1 Cotton
Investment Co., Ltd. (a joint venture held as to 49% by the Company) and
its subsidiaries up to June 2015. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional
University (now known as Jiangnan University) and was a member
of the Standing Committee of Wuxi Municipal People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China. He also has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of YGM Trading Limited (stock code: 375) since
January 2018, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT
EEREEAE

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior management,
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee, Mr. Chan Wing To and Madam Chan Suk Man are
siblings. They are also the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Mr. Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley. Madam Chan
Suk Man is the wife of Mr. Lau Shing Choy.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship
with other Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

MANAGEMENT

Lau Shing Choy

Aged 71, Mr. Lau received a Bachelor’'s degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1969, and a Doctor of Philosophy Degree
from Case Western Reserve University, USA in 1978. Mr. Lau joined the
Group in 1978 to develop the China business. He is the Director of Hong
Kong Knitters Limited.

Leung Ming Wai, Alan

Aged 61, Mr. Leung is the General Manager of Sales Department and
obtained the diploma in Management Studies at Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Master Degree in Business Administration at University of
Macau. He joined the Company as Sales Manager in 1986.

Yung Chor Yin, Margaret

Aged 55, is the General Manager of Sales Department and received
a Bachelor's degree from RMIT University and a Master's degree in
Business Administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She
joined the Company in 1985.

Yip Chung On

Aged 56, Mr. Yip is the General Manager of Sales Department. Mr. Yip
joined the Company in 1982, and was promoted to Sales Manager in
1989. With wide range of both woven and knit experience in garment
sourcing and merchandizing, he was appointed as General Manager in
2005.

Hui Sau Ling

Aged 53, is the Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the
Group. She joined the Group in 2000 and has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting, treasury and company secretarial work. She is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
8 3 B BRT R S

kpmg

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 38 to 125, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B B R

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

WER AR ~ WG B st i 0 WAEL

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(m).

i B ARG TR A GE11(e) R &l B 1 (m) -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS HE

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
FRA" W A o 8 B P

In view of the loss sustained by certain business units of
the Group during the current year, management considered
that indicators of impairment of other property, plant and
equipment existed as at 31 March 2019.
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In assessing whether impairment existed at the reporting
date, management determined the recoverable amount of
the smallest cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which these
assets were allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
the greater of its value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the related assets.

TERPAG (B R A TE IR A B > BB R sz S E A
TC T a8 W19 e /N B 4 2 A LA, 22w W [l <R o U 11 T i [
<5 R LG D (R %~ M Bl A T v
IHUE o

In order to determine the recoverable amount of each of the
CGUs for which indicators of impairment were identified,
management prepared a value in use calculation using a
discounted cash flow forecast and assessed the fair values
of the properties by reference to a valuation performed
by an independent external valuer or an estimate made
by management. Based on the assessment, the Group
recognised impairment losses of HK$5.17 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of other
property, plant and equipment included the following:
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e challenging the Group’s impairment assessment
model, which included assessing the impairment
indicators identified by management, the
identification of CGUs and the allocation of
assets to each of the CGUs and assessing the
impairment assessment models with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
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e for the property valuation performed by independent
external valuer engaged by the Group, inspecting
the valuation report and assessing the independent
external valuer’s qualifications, experience and
expertise in the assets being valued and considering
its objectivity and independence; discussing with
the independent external valuer and challenging its
valuation methodology and the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in its valuation, which included
property specific adjustment factors and the choice
of market comparable transactions, taking into
consideration of comparability and other market
factors;
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(B > g i B4 A5 T A6 8 S 4 A L S O A (i
Yy SEH B A o KB I SRR > 3 R B I
B 2 Ak 5 LS ST A A (L R R e Sl L R A (6 D ¥
Fe FLAR (B B B8 Q) B 51 BB ELAR ) SE 2
o 4 R R KT T AR B (8 4 > 3 5 AT LA
L HADT 5N R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 3 B BRT R S

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

WAL SCA ISR ~ W5 B i A v AV ()

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(m).

RSB IRE N FE11(0) R &7 B % 1(m) -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
FRA" v o 8 B o

The discounted cash flow forecasts used to assess
impairment were based on a number of assumptions which
required the exercise of significant management judgement,
in particular in estimating future revenue and cost of direct
materials, staff costs and fixed costs and the discount rate
applied.

AR A B (B 9 £ 3 3R B < I T R AR R R R E Y IR
R BRI WA ZH J MU OO > JU SRS L E
SRR ~ B TR B 8] 5 AR A R 2 B B

The assessment of the properties’ fair values also
involve significant judgement, particularly in respect of
property-specific adjustment factors and the choice of
market comparable transactions.

BN TR SS9 R HIE > el RTERREY
SETRRE IR RN T B T LS B Y B O TR

e for the property’s fair value assessed by
management based on benchmarking to recent
market transactions, challenging the choice
of the market comparable transactions taking
into consideration their comparability and other
market factors;

B T AR PR AT ) i 3 5 B B B HE A A SE R 8
BB > B Al LTI 85 PT LR E B ) R 4 > [R] IR B R
AT BG AR At T 3 R

e challenging the key assumptions adopted by
management in the preparation of the discounted cash
flow forecasts by comparing the most significant inputs
in the discounted cash flow forecast, including future
revenue and cost of direct materials, staff costs and
fixed costs, with the historical performance and the
most recent financial budget approved by the board of
directors, industry reports and other available third party
information;

S BT A A SO B B < O T T AR e 2 R
f& R > I T BB S T P R A B -
TR S AR RAS ~ B AR B R A
SRR S R B K Bl Ml WcE g HE MBS TS - T3
o B AR S =05 ] B A A L

e comparing the key assumptions included in the
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by
management in the prior year with the current year’s
performance to assess the accuracy of the prior year’s
forecasts and making enquiries of management as
to the reasons for any significant variations identified
and whether these had been considered in the current
discounted cash flow forecasts;

A LA 4F B2 4 2L sl A 5 5 BB < DR S T A o 2
IR SR B3 o B AR 4 3 119 2 B 5 A L DA A 7 4R BE 1Y
TR 75 HERRE > Sl At A 2R AT 0T E K 25 LY SR LA
BAEEZ CMBERSRHENERCHBZE R R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 3 B B R

ASSESSING IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

WEAG SCA IS ~ W5 B i A v AL ()

Refer to note 11(e) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(m).

i B ARG TR A GE11(e) R &l B 1 (m) -

THE KEY AUDIT MATTER
LS HE

HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT
FRA" W A o 8 B P

We identified assessing impairment of other property, plant
and equipment as a key audit matter because of the potential
significance of any impairment charge to the results of the
Group for the year and because forecasting future cash
flows and valuing the Group’s properties can be inherently
subjective and require significant management judgement
and estimation which increase the risk of error or potential
management bias.

TAE A I ABY S ~ R B 485 1) 9 (B9 27 o] e it
W B A AT R AR B A SE AR A VAR A
REB > M ERAKB R TEN RAGE  HEEY) AT R
Tt A BB R ZEAE H E R B R Al S st ek
TR T i 10 Y B,

e assessing the discount rate applied in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by referencing to available financial
information of other listed companies in the same
industry and considering region and CGU specific risk
premiums;

27 MR A7 00 HoA b T2 7 ] B A > R AG
FHAE C 0B B i S A R BE R 5 3% B8 b [ DL S B
S A AL Y BB ik

° performing a sensitivity analysis of the discount rate,
revenue, cost of direct materials and staff costs
growth rates in the discounted cash flow forecasts and
considering the resulting impact on the impairment
charge for the year and whether there were any
indicators of management bias; and

B HE S B P AR B - A E AR A
Je B TRAS I = AMEAT SO E 0 > 5 R IS A
B AR AR T A IR B > DL TR A AR AT
SR LS W B > B

e assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the assessment of impairment
of other property, plant and equipment with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.

S BT ORI Z TR 31545 A BB B oA
HEA S 36 - WO B A B B -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
8 3 B BRT R S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

A7 W05 8t 3 e 3B o it 3 DA A g

s B

R AR AR o A E RS TR
FEHAETEL - HAEEEE S MR &
T A B A% R R o

FAM 3B &5 B B R A9 R IGO0 35 H (R
B A IR A 5% S H A BB R AT TR N
L Fos o

55 BAM B AR A BB AR B R A B EAE
e B AR ARG - B EEAMEE
e T BLAR & B R M A AR AR T T
iRt FR) 15 LA A B K IS B 0L A A R B R
Bt B 1 L o

ERBMEANATITAE > ARG R HALE
SATEEREHREE > RMTEREZFH -
TE3E J7 T > BB A AL AT A -

o 58 A5 I B WOR AUR I AT

R A R A g A i (R
B 5 i R JU)) R A T 0N W R A1) B A R T
THRES MBRE WHHKRL R ESSH
Fi 2 ) $5E M AN A7 7E e 7 YR BB R T A B
R B R R P 5 0 PR R B R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 3 B B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

K%ﬁﬂﬁﬂt%%%ﬁﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁt%ﬂﬁﬁ
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
8 3 B BRT R S

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Mei Yan Hilary.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

24 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

e EER

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

2019 2018
e S K. 2 —E—N\FE
(Note)
(Mt aE)
Note $°000 $°000
Bt 7t T FC
Revenue WA 2&10 717,614 749,280
Cost of sales B BLAS (585,030) (611,731)
Gross profit EH 132,584 137,549
Other income HoAth i 45 3 8,733 10,866
Selling and distribution expenses PR Kooy (49,777) (53,596)
Administrative expenses 1TEE (61,168) (62,373)
Other operating expenses HoAh 58 45 2 (14,113) (15,350)
Profit from operations BB wAN 16,259 17,096
Finance costs Fil & A 4(a) (3,506) (2,553)
Share of profits of joint ventures A A 5 A 2 36 12,007 14,967
Impairment loss on plant and equipment G SRR ZEi 11(e) (5,170) (4,758)
Net valuation gains on investment properties % ¥& ¥ 2 fifi {8 Ui %5 75 %8 11(a) 3,361 17,545
Profit before taxation : BE iy i A 4 22,951 42,297
Income tax S 15 i 5(a) (2,650) (7,254)
Profit for the year AR AF JiE Wi A 20,301 35,043
Attributable to: M 45 S Y
Equity shareholders of the Company AN A ERERR A A 22,062 36,558
Non-controlling interests IF 1 I B R 2 (1,761) (1,515)
Profit for the year AR AF JiE Wik A 20,301 35,043
Earnings per share BB A
Basic and diluted A T 9 $0.11 $0.18
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under M7t : AEFEC R ZF — /4EN H — H & K1 & ik i

the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note

1(c).

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company

5 0 i Y J) 55 1 B9F K 7 v B A YE I R Ok -
MR AT SR A I Oy i > WIRE R A TES] - 2
B B 1 (c) o

B ASF A% 2 ) B HEE R A N AR 4 B BB 19 SRS

attributable to the year are set out in note 25(b(i)). The notes on pages 44
to 125 form part of these financial statements.

W 5E25(0(i) © 544 H 125 F 9 B 5L & A B %5
Wk 2z — W o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REeEmREMER RS

TR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

2019 2018
R —JUiE —B— 4
(Note (i)
(HtaE0)
Note $°000 $’000
Bt it T T 7T
Profit for the year o AAEwH 20,301 35043
Other comprehensive income AR AT B I fib 2 i B 2%
for the year (after tax and (3B B I B 2 UM e 4% )
reclassification adjustments)
Items that will not be reclassified VN g &y vk
subsequently to profit or loss: B HIIEH -
Equity investments at FVOCI: 375 e Al 2 T W i A N S
net movement in the investment HEAENFHRRE
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) 18 & o Ak it 6 2 B 7 AR
(A~ 3 [m] ) 1,037 -
ltems that are or may be reclassified FEF I H A A E
subsequently to profit or loss: D E B E A
Exchange differences on translation of: T 58, 25 30
- financial statements of subsidiaries — 6557 s BT A B
outside Hong Kong NI YR & (6,884) 10,154
— share of joint ventures’ net assets *Tﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%
R (36,896) 55,618
(43,780) 65,772
Release of exchange reserve upon Hh B — T A ERE 55 IR
disposal of interest in an associate % [0 B 5 R 5L R A 14 (55) =
Available-for-sale securities: net movement — A] it i 8 75 % « #E HAG
in the investment revaluation reserve fath Ahf 53 Wy A (R] g [m])
(recycling) (Note (ii)) (Kt 7t (i) - (1,370)
Cash flow hedges: net movement B RN e S RGN S RULK -
in the hedging reserve 56 )V 2,255 (2,255)
Other comprehensive income for the year  ~ AMFEEHM R EE (40,543) 62,147
Total comprehensive income for the year 7 4F B 4 ihi M 2% 48 7% (20,242) 97,190
Attributable to: B $58 Bl e
Equity shareholders of the Company A m HESRE A N (18,438) 98,823
Non-controlling interests Ik FE I 15 TR HRE £ (1,804) (1,633)
Total comprehensive income for the year 7% 4F J& 4 1iij ¥ 35 48 % (20,242) 97,190

Notes:

)  The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under (i)
the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note

1(c).

(i) This amount arose under the accounting policies applicable prior to 1 April 2018. (i)

As part of the opening balance adjustments as at 1 April 2018, the balance of this

reserve has been reclassified to the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

and will not be reclassified to profit or loss in any future periods. See note 1(c)(a).

The notes on pages 44 to 125 form part of these financial statements.

AR B ZFE— ENH — B E KR &Y
5 UE RN 551 595 S A s S R e RSO T -
WP BT M IE ik > WIRER A T E - o
2 BMtsE1(c)

WA R — AR Y A — H R A 0 & s BUR
EANEGHE - AR ZF—/VFENH—HZ 84
iRV MR A RC ER OB EREEMN
M ORI ) Ht &A= RS
B o 2B () () °

44 H T 125 F B 55 AR IS Rk 2 — 4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a5 Bt 1 AR R R

At 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

N—TE—NEFE=RA=+—8 L&)

2019 2018
ot Sy K S TR N\4E
(Note)
(Mt 7E)
Note $°000 $°000
Kt 7t T T or
Non-current assets e B
Investment properties &Y 11 242,239 240,556
Other property, plant and equipment HABY 2 - W B Bk A 11 54,761 58,223
Interest in leasehold land held for HEgEMHEZ 8 H
own use under operating leases B L b nOHE 35 11 1,292 1,438
298,292 300,217
Intangible assets Y 12 2,985 3,080
Interests in joint ventures BE G 15 546,154 571,043
Other financial assets Hofth 45 Wb & 16 20,011 4,611
Deferred tax assets R JE B E A 23(b)(ii) - 271
.. Geras  e792
Current assets b U/ g3
Inventories Fe 17 69,177 68,686
Trade and other receivables JREE o i 3 e L A B s K 18 98,375 120,000
Current tax recoverable AT g ] A A B I 23(a) 347 131
Cash at bank and in hand SRAT A7 3 S B4 19(a) 323,769 323,112
e 491,668 511,929
Current liabilities Ui Bh £ 5
Trade and other payables JRE AT e 3 B HL Ath JBE A5 3k 20 84,690 86,407
Contract liabilities HHAR 21 4,952 -
Current tax payable JRE A A 1A Fod T 23(a) 14,709 16,036
... 1043%1 102,443
Netcurrentassets _  _  _  _____ wish¥ewsf 387317 409,486 _
Total assets less current liabilities B A S R B A A 1,254,759 1,288,708
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

5 B S AR O R

At 31 March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

N—TE—NEFE=RA=+—8 (L&)

2019 2018
ot Sy K3 —E—)N\E
(Note)
(1 7E)
Note $°000 $'000
Mt it T Fr
Non-current liabilities Ui W) £1 45
Provision for long service payments 1% W TR 5 4 48 A 24 23,498 22,728
Deferred tax liabilities R A0 A T A A 23 (b)(ii) 16,516 17,013
oo eeeeeeieiiiemmmmeecccccccccsoocoaco.o.. R 40,014 39,741
NET ASSETS ¥ A A 1,214,745 1,248,967
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B B A i
Share Capital it A 25(c) 208,418 208,418
Reserves it #h 1,008,228 1,039,310
Total equity attributable to equity M 4% S5 % AR 2 W) IR B
shareholders of the Company ¥ A B 25 B0 B 1,216,646 1,247,728
Non-controlling interests ERLI TR (1,901) 1,239
TOTAL EQUITY HE 25 48 781 1,214,745 1,248,967

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 June

2019.

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Chan Wing Kee
Managing Director

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under
the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note

1(c).

The notes on pages 44 to 125 form part of these financial statements.

EHFOR F—NFEANA B EHERR
e EIIIRE -

Btk 22 Bk B
E 3 HHE R

Mgt s AREBEER ZF—)/FENA— B8 RS
5 4 455 e R 55 1 555 S & i S B o UE TSRO -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERS X

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ZE-NF=RA=+—BIFE (LET)

Investment ~ Investment  Land and

Goodwill ~ revaluation  revaluation  buildings Non-
Share  Exchange arising on reserve reserve  revaluation Hedging Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve consolidation  (recycling) (non-recycling) reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
#% &%
BRRHE EWRE  ERGE  LARBY el

BA EREE  EEER  (THE)  CRWHE)  EREE HURE RRRE RE gt BREE RaRE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000 §000 §000 $000 $000 $000
£ 7 7z 7z 7z 7 7I 7I 7r 7i I Fr

(note (note (note (note note (note note
Note () 25(d)) 200 20 20 20K 250
i (it i i3 (3t (i3t 3
Wit 256) 2501 200 2 2o 254 250
Balance at RoF-LA
1 April 2017 WA-NZ& 208,418 68,544 (42,174 306 - 31,870 - 7,236 895380 1,169,580 2812 1,172,452
Changes in equity  SEABERSH :
for the year:
Profitfor theyear AR Bl - - - - - - - - 36,558 36,558 (1515) 35,048
Other comprehensive M2 Fil
income 8 - 65,890 - (1,370) - - 2,255) - - 62,265 (118) 62,147
Total comprehensive 2T 44
income - 65,890 - (1,370) - - 2,255) - 36,558 98,823 (1,633 97,190
Dividends approved ~ # ¢
inrespectofthe L= REAIRE
preousyer ... 200 . Tl Tl .. .. Tl .. .. SOl 1 T 8T
Balance at 31 March =%~ MEZH=F-H
2018 (note) (Hit) 208,418 134,434 (42,174 (1,084) - 31,870 2,269) 7,236 911,263 1,247,728 1239 1248967
Impectonintil  EREAFEIHEE
applicable of AR 2 ¥
HKFRS 9 - - - 1,004 13,429 - - - - 14,493 - 14,493
Adjusted balance on 7t =%~ A4 WHI—H
1 April 2018 AER AR N84S 134434 (42174 - 13,429 31870 2259) 786 911268 126200 1239 1,263,460
Changes in equity 4 R%H :
for the year:
Pofitfortheyear AR - - - - - - - - 22,062 22,062 (1,761) 20,301
Other comprehensive St A&
income 8 - (43,792) - - 1,037 - 2,265 - - 40,500) 43) 40,543)
Total comprehensive 2Tk 4%
income - (43,792) - - 1,087 - 2,255 - 22,062 18,438) (1,804) (20.242)
Acouiston of - TB L
non-controling FoRER
nterest of a
subsidiary - (440) - - - - - - (1,887) [2.321) (1,336) (3,663)
Dividends approved ~ #E&
inrespectofthe  E—EEMRE
s T T L. O .. RO 2.
Balance at 31 R
March 2019 St-H2ER 208,418 90,202 (42,174) = 14,466 31,870 = 7,236 906,628 1,216,646 (1901) 1,214,745

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under  fif# : AEE L A —F— \NHED A — B 15 K T 75 Wk i

the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note B HE HI) 21 5% K Ak I A E R 2505 o
1(c). RIEPTEFENVRIE > HIRER AT ES] - 2

R B 551 (c) -

The notes on pages 44 to 125 form part of these financial statements. HALE FA25 E MW 5 B AWM B IR R 2 —F A
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

mERTRER

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NEF=A=1T—RLFE (LETi)

2019 2018
it 2 I 3 SR\
(Note)
(Bt #E)
Note $°000 $000
iz T F L
Operating activities BEWY
Cash generated from operations BEEB A& 19(b) 41,460 19,533
Tax paid E AT BLE (3,824) (7,166)
Net cash generated from FR % 0 9T 9 B A
operating activities 37,636 12,367
Investing activities B
Payment for the purchase of other W B A 2 - R
property, plant and equipment R A AT 3K (7,098) (2,005)
Proceeds from disposals of other HEHAMYE - WE
property, plant and equipment T %Ak Py 15 3K IR 224 4,990
Interest received A2 2,731 1,091
Payment for acquisition of sz P — Bt Jog 2 )
non-controlling interest of a subsidiary ~ JF #2¢ B HE 5 1+ 5% 13(b) (3,663) =
Dividends received from Cl—aEhEzRE
a joint venture - 12,926
Dividends received from equity securities E Y I H#E#E % 2 Ik 2 776 517
Decrease/(increase) in restricted PR SRAT A D
bank deposits (FEm) 4,248 (4,360)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BB BT ), BB
investing activities BE&HH (2,782) 13,159
Financing activities Tl )
Interest paid 2 At FLE (8,158) (2,410)
Dividends paid to equity SRR/
shareholders of the Company R AR (24,810) (20,675)
Net cash used in financing activities HAMWBPI MBS EwH (27,968) . | (23,085)
Net increase in cash and RERBRESEY
cash equivalents B4 Jm 5 6,886 2,441
Cash and cash equivalents RAERZ B4 K
at the beginning of the year BRE&SmY 318,752 313,489
Effect of foreign exchange A W 56 IR 55 W 2 5
rate changes (1,981) 2,822
Cash and cash equivalents RAERZ B &R
at the end of the year B4e%Em 19(a) 323,657 318,752

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under
the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note

1(c).

The notes on pages 44 to 125 form part of these financial statements.

Wiz o ASEBIE IR =% — /DA — B YR R i

5 0 Y4 F 551 598 % 7 v B A YE I S50k -

L0 758 49 1 0 0 7
I 3E1(C) =

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED R KA BA 5

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 #%f

W E R A T HE S -

2

SHAATH 125 FU A MG AR B B Ak 2 — W -



44

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties (see note 1(j));
— other investments in equity securities (see note 1(f)); and
—  derivative financial instruments (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

1.

(a)

(b)

EE 8Ok

3 1] 7% W)

A S B 3R T 1% B A i RN 8 A T
A 2 R B i Y D (1 W B
Wb e QD) o GLAE BT A R I ) A
B e A CRE G FHERND ([ F#E st
A R FEARZ e LE
N TR B 2 B E T A R AR B S R TR
MaEEBB GRS A RS R GER L
LA (T BT BRI ) 2 %8 1 8k L E - A
EEBENZ EFLEEGRBORBMZEWT -

g wH A g OB TR KB RT
MBS A R AL AT
At S B A AT AR R AR o AR AR
HRAT B T w0 R0 U T L 4 R
JE& P 2 F 2 A AT i IBOOR B  T S WA R%
B R 2 BB MBI MR (o)

YU 5 0 e ¥y o R

BE_ZF-NE=ZA=Z+—HILFEMNE
EMH W > BIEAN A S ME A (5
P2 [ A S 1)) AR B & B A S AR

AN B 75 i 3 R AR AR JEE SR RS JE HE A R M
T IE E e AR A (T ST At
Z G FFER AR QIR A

- BEYE (ZHBEE)
- HAbBRERS R BUE (2 BIMEE1() 5 K
- fiEEMIA (2B -

2 8 7 i T 5 o A R0 S R
T LRGBS R AR OB AR
B AR > w45 FI B - flhat BRSO B g st
BORWRER > UM BWMZEE - & -
W ait S S B B A o A I AR A R T
n 2R R AE I B A HL A AR RIS > KW
A1 R 8 JEE St A6 B R A BRI DR BB A A
(19 A PR 281 o T o TR R T RE B A
AP B ER -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 # %k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(c)

(@)

()

T-NF=A=1—RILFE (LBTH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 29.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

- HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

- HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is
not yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition
and measurement. It sets out the requirements for recognising and
measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to
buy or sell non-financial items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 April 2018 in accordance with the transition
requirements. The Group has recognised the cumulative effect of
initial application as an adjustment to the opening equity at 1 April
2018. Therefore, comparative information continues to be reported
under HKAS 39.

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost, at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”). These supersede HKAS 39’s
categories of held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets measured at
FVPL. The classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based
on the business model under which the financial asset is managed
and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

+ At geoR (41)

(b) S 38 o 1 B R 0% e (480)

(¢)

(a)

(i)

i% S5 At B AR I B & 5 A AR A - B Rt
fili it ok an SR R R A B R
BEAE il w5 00 AR R o R ZIH R
fili w80 B SO R A DL B I A
IBH) ) 52 B A AR DA% 0 T e R o

A TR A BT ) A B R 4 R e
P Hh T SH € 36 I B ok A R R B K
B> DAl ah A wEE R 2 E BRI Z A
Ay KA B B EE29 e

£t R 52 )

A AR OO A T IR AR SR A
LR L RERVNE S b DS S TR )
Bl e R o E P BLRSEE B RO A
Bz SRS

- HBMB WA ENEN 24 T H

- EHEMBHWREEREASYE . FEA
A

A S [ Sl 91 bR P AT AR AE A 0 I 0 Ok
PR R 2 T RT e  BGR R

78I B R BN - i TR

A s B S o Y R 2 O B IR s e L
395 - Ml T A - i@ KAl o WAL
BETHRIMGBEMEE  SMAMKL
—EREFEMIAN A TSR -

A 5 T AR B0 2 90 R R F 7 i S R R Y S
SEOUTIE WIME A = % — \AEVU A — H I
CAFTERIE B o A< 48 FI o O i 2 5t
BRI —F— /VENH — BB
REM R - HIL > HRER BRI TES
FHHERI 3958 T LI 2 4k -

& B A A

A s B S Y ) B O B A e
SR EEEA R AR R BR A
At 4 TG S i 2 2 18 (A B B0 o 1R 4 1%
NOFEEAR - BT &l e s AE
B9UEM el E AR A > B - A EFM
B B AR K~ AT e A
Fe 75 ot 18 45 1% 3 V(B (H A MR A 8 Bl E
T T B 5 i Y ) SR O BE 4 B Y A0 S
TIRBE B E B A RS X
B 4 U R E -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (continued)
() Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

The following table shows the original measurement categories for
each class of the Group’s financial assets under HKAS 39 impacted
by the new standard and reconciles the carrying amounts of those
financial assets determined in accordance with HKAS 39 to those
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9.

1. B Ak goR (80)

(c) FrwhBOREEG (&)

(a) TFBIY BRI ENE » £ T H (%)

(i) &3 & E A A ()
T 2 i 3 A 4 ) 7 0 e ) B 2 4 i
T Wk g Ve HI S5 3098 1Y L B 0 K%
S 4 A FE R UE A U O R N SR 3098 K A

T B S o Y ) 55 O % BT 78 A MR T (EDAEAT

HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 March 1 April
2018 Reclassification  Remeasurement 2018
kgt A B
5399 el o%k
=N\ R=Z— N\
ZA=+—H WA—H
IR (E R HiiatE Z IR i
$000 $000 $000 $°000
ji i i i
Financial assets measured at BRI A2 A TR AR
FVOCI (non-recycling) SR R B
Equity securities (note) FReHERE 55 (M 7t) - 4,611 14,493 19,104
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale  Hi#§7 i 1 2 1] 4539%% 2 51
under HKAS 39 (note) Rv o i A Y R M)
- unlisted equity securities — 3 bR % 855 (855) = -
- equity securities listed outside Hong Kong —FiBSO TR 3,756 (3,756) = -
4,611 (4,611) S -
Note: Certain equity investments held by the Group for long-term strategic MEEE - AL AT VE R R ) %R

purposes have been designated under HKFRS 9 at FVOCI (non-recycling)
(see note 16). Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, those unlisted equity
securities were measured at cost because their fair values were not
considered to be reliably measureable. HKFRS 9 has removed this cost
exception.

i 25 B0 O AR B R U B S T SR 0Bk 4
SE 7% 35 A A 2 T W 4 4% AP B AR (O
AR (BB EE16) o 1E R BR A A s B
B e WEH S OUE 2 A/ » W5 R SR DURAR A
[ N A o = =N/ = N
T BB 7 Y I SR O 5% 0 L L B A 4] A1 15 DL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(i)

Z-NF=RA=+—HILFE L&)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (continued)
Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and measures
financial assets and recognises related gains and losses under
HKFRS 9, see respective accounting policy notes in notes 1(f), (g),

(), (m)(i), (0) and (s).

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities remain the
same. The carrying amounts for all financial liabilities at 1 April 2018
have not been impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with the
“expected credit loss” (“ECL”) model. The ECL model requires an
ongoing measurement of credit risk associated with a financial asset
and therefore recognises ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss”
accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and lease receivables).

For further details on the Group’s accounting policy for credit losses,
see note 1(m).

The adoption of HKFRS 9 does not have any material impact on the
financial position and the financial result of the Group.

F A EHBOR (8)

(c) FruhBORSE S (5)
(a) FRHAEM BRI BINE » £ TH (HH)

(i)

(i)

& il B S A 19 90 ()

AR A S T 0 ] AR 4 A o B i M ) 2R
OE 7 FH B B i O A S e R OA BR) i i
Felles 18 2 MR FE > 5500 1 2 B8 & st B R RE
1(f) > (@)~ (h) > (m)(i) > (0) Ke(s) °

P A 4 A 2 R U AT ME R R B o B
Aamamn _—F— /FENH—HZ R
ﬁjﬁﬁﬁ%iﬂﬁm%)ﬂ%%ﬁiﬂ%iﬁtbﬁﬂﬂéﬁ
QFEZE'/ =

1 B 17
Y B 5 R A I B O 5 DA [ F 15 s 1A

8 B A o o e B30 [ 2 AR
R - B (E B i B 2R A

P A B A 1R OB o R O e R
HI 15 5 M 4R RO By ] I 7 o o et E B 2R 39 5%

[EELEBERIZEAEAAR -

A AR A A R T 0 £ 5 s RS KR R A
AT RN EMERE (BFHSAHE
SEE Y o M R R S L A R AR R s AR
THA) -

A B A LR S H G R BOR 2R
% > w2 B HEE(m) -

H:ﬂ%%i%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁiféﬂu%ﬁ%ﬁ%}zlﬁ%lm%
5 IR DL L% S 55 36 A0 A o K R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

(b

()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising
revenue and some costs from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
replaces HKAS 18, Revenue, which covered revenue arising from
sale of goods and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Construction
contracts, which specified the accounting for construction
contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with
customers.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect transition
method and has recognised the cumulative effect of initial
application as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at
1 April 2018. Therefore, comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 18. As allowed
by HKFRS 15, the Group has applied the new requirements only to
contracts that were not completed before 1 April 2018.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on previous
accounting policies are set out below:

Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue from sale of goods and provision of services
was generally recognised at a point in time when the risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods had passed to the customers
and the service were rendered.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the promised good or service in the contract. This
may be at a single point in time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies
the following three situations in which control of the promised good
or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

A.  When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the entity’s performance, as the entity
performs;

B.  When the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced;

C. When the entity’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

2y al ook (41)

(c) FralBosRsE s (%)
(b) TR B AW BISYE - 5 HBA

(i)

A v B 5 i A ) SR 1 B 5% 2 5 — {8 4 T AE
28 MR TERE A P AT A AR KA T
JAS o 7 s P 5 i e B SR SR U A i
RPHERISE18E - JA (B ZE I 7 dh 4%
Pl B T 7 A 2 W) B A s g R AR
158 & a4 GINEEsHRAZE
FhE I e

A BB i R SR 1 5 9R IR I A B AN 2
PR e B R E - B TE o BB R T
HTIREF &K T E AR WA R BLE R E
MR - BORE R OR il M

AL BN R R BRI - A
ER/ VTR 3 T e SN S
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any
of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the entity recognises
revenue for the sale of that good or service at a single point in
time, being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards
of ownership is only one of the indicators that is considered in
determining when the transfer of control occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any material impact
on the timing of revenue recognition for both sales of goods and
provision of services of the Group.

Presentation of contract liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a contract liability is recognised when a customer
pays consideration, or is contractually required to pay consideration
and the amount is already due, before the Group recognises the
related revenue. Such balances are recognised as contract liabilities
rather than payables.

Previously, amounts received before the goods delivered were
presented as advances received under “trade and other payables”.

To reflect these changes in presentation, at 1 April 2018, as a result
of the adoption of HKFRS 15, advances received from customers
included under “trade and other payables” of $3,524,000 is now
reclassified as “contract liabilities” (note 21).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

—NE=A= = BIEEE 0BT

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows, and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 1(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(m)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement, and
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the equity method and
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 1(m)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items
of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associate and joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 1(f).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Associates and joint ventures (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
an associate and joint ventures are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(m)).

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures, are as
follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised on
the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at
FVPL for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair
value of financial instruments, see note 26(e). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL
or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(wj)(iv).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other investments in equity securities (continued)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018

Investments in equity securities were initially stated at fair value,
which was their transaction price unless it was determined that
the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price and that fair value was evidenced by a quoted price in
an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on
a valuation technique that uses only data from observable
markets. Cost includes attributable transaction costs. These
investments were classified as available-for-sale securities. At
the end of each reporting period the fair value was remeasured,
with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the investment revaluation reserve (recycling). As an exception
to this, investment in equity securities that did not have a
quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument and
whose fair value could not otherwise be reliably measured were
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less impairment losses. Dividend income from equity
investments was recognised in profit or loss in accordance with
the policies set out in note 1(wj)(iv). When the investments were
derecognised or impaired (see note 1(m)(i) — policy applicable
prior to 1 April 2018), the cumulative gain or loss recognised in
equity was reclassified to profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value.
At the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify
for cash flow hedge accounting, in which case recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being
hedged (see note 1(h)).

Cash flow hedges

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments to
hedge the variability in cash flows associated with highly probable
forecast transactions arising from changes in foreign exchange
rates (cash flow hedges). The hedge accounting policy applied
from 1 April 2018 is similar to that applicable prior to 1 April 2018.
However, under the new hedge accounting policy, depending on
the complexity of the hedge, the Group applies a more qualitative
approach to assessing hedge effectiveness, and the assessment is
always forward-looking.

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedging
instrument in a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of any gain
or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash flow hedges (continued)

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a non-financial asset such as inventory, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to be included in
the initial cost of the non-financial asset.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the amount accumulated
in the hedging reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in
the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows
affect profit or loss (such as when a forecast sale occurs or interest
expense is recognised).

If a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting
(including when the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised), then hedge accounting is discontinued
prospectively. When hedge accounting is discontinued, but the
hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the amount
that has been accumulated in the hedging reserve remains in equity
until the transaction occurs and it is recognised in accordance with
the above policy. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to
take place, the amount that has been accumulated in the hedging
reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss immediately.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(l) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at fair values, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1 (w)(iii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest
is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease, and the same accounting policies
are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other property, plant and equipment

Other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(m)).

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property carried at fair value, the property is revalued at the date
of transfer. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in profit or loss and any resulting increase in
carrying amount is recognised in other comprehensive income and
increase in the land and buildings revaluation reserve.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
land and buildings revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease;

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 60 years after the date of
completion;

—  Plant and machinery between 4 to 10 years; and

—  Other assets between 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1. BEEEEHER (5)
....... (OO Cd) e e
(k) Intangible assets (k) K% %

(U]

(U]

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(m)). Amortisation of
intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Both the
period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to
the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property is classified as
investment property on a property-by-property basis and, if
classified as investment property, is accounted for as if held
under a finance lease (see note 1(j)); and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease
was first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leased assets (continued)
Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases,
payments made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease term
except where the property is classified as an investment property
(see note 1(i)).

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables); and

- lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and lease receivables
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1. EEEHBOR ()
....... (COMEMUEd) i e
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued) (m) 15 8805 8 % & WA (4])
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables (i) & T RAIEWRREHIEZ 5881 (4)
(continued)
(A)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2018 (continued) (A) B Z=E—/NEPH— H w2 5%
(%)
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss A HAh 4 @ TR A% L
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been ME R+ A W EDE SR 4
a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument WERR IR > BRI B W) bR SR AR w4
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is TR E B R RIE B TR
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. THW T - KR e DU 8
HHEEERG#ES & -
ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes HYEEERRE 48 H 1
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in the profit or 2 > AT A 2 Bl 7F 48 25 A T B A W (B Uk
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss with i 0l 18 o AN B2 B R U (I A
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the B R A RS SR T B>
financial instruments through a loss allowance account. W TAT (B ©
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease FE— G P SR IR T B BRI 2 AR
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent T (E AR (5B 43 82230 %A H Bl 47
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally G Ul [m] B9 56 40 o w% 1 04 i B AE
the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not AL R E B N R A G E B ] E A
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient JE ) B 4 TR 2 W R TR A A R 4 R R
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. B -
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written 7 A% i ) A AT B R 0 R
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in Wi e A 2 A TR A 98 g A R A TR
the period in which the recovery occurs. B o
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (B) ZFE—/NAFEMH — H i i B #
Prior to 1 April 2018, an “incurred loss” model was used to E_F—/NFEMNH—HAE - 2UTEE
measure impairment losses on financial assets not classified as AR LG R B RBLE KA
at FVPL (e.g. trade and other receivables and available-for-sale TAEAE B 2 A RUE B (1) R i R
investments). Under the “incurred loss” model, an impairment S B LAt JE ik B AT E R E)
loss was recognised only when there was objective evidence of WEEE EIEEEBERIKELT
impairment. Objective evidence of impairment included: HUATE WE 1 % B8 B 0 B A R
WAE SR o BUE M B
- significant financial difficulties of the debtor; - EFAE Y B IR
- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in - ERAR > B0 R ol ) E R
interest or principal payments; B B 4 s
- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy - fEBNARTT BT & 5 W E ot
or other financial reorganisation; A7 oA B 5 #E A
- significant changes in the technological, market, - B WG A FRREN
economic or legal environment that have an adverse EDNUE DR NG SN
effect on the debtor; and 2 K
-  a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an - BHETEZEWATEMALBEE
investment in an equity instrument below its cost. Kok HF AT B AR LA o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NE=A=1+—RLLEFE LET:H)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1. A5 EOR (8)

....... (COMUNUEA) | i et

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued) (m) i 880 8 % & A WA (%)

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables (i) & T HAIERREHEZ 5881 (4)
(continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (continued)

If any such evidence existed, an impairment loss was
determined and recognised as follows:

—  For trade and other current receivables and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost, impairment loss was
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate, where the effect of discounting was material.
This assessment was made collectively where these
financial assets shared similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and had not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial
assets which were assessed for impairment collectively
were based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreased and the decrease could be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss was reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss
was only recognised to the extent that it did not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

When the recovery of a trade debtor or other financial
assets carried at amortised cost was considered doubtful
but not remote, associated impairment losses were
recorded using an allowance account. When the Group
was satisfied that recovery was remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable was written off against the gross
carrying amount of those assets directly. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account were reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly were recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

1.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.

(continued)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued) (m)

(U]

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables

(continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2018 (continued)

—  For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset where
the effect of discounting is material. Impairment losses for
equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

—  For available-for-sale investments, the cumulative loss that
had been recognised in investment revaluation reserve
(recycling) was reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of
the cumulative loss that was recognised in profit or loss
was the difference between the acquisition cost (net of
any principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect
of available-for-sale equity securities were not reversed
through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in
the fair value of such assets was recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Impairment of other assets (i)

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

other property, plant and equipment;

pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being held for
own use under an operating lease;

intangible assets; and

investments in subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures in
the Company’s statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’'s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

(0)

p)

(@

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive the consideration,
the account is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(m)())).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

(o)

(p)

(q)

2y al ook (41)

17 8 T3 DLBAS BT 5 B (E W & A A B
BEHAMR -

AR VA0 B F- 35 BAS 3 R R AR B
A BRI RAS ~ 0 TR DL R A A B R B
AR AN A iy 2 AR o

TS B LA W SE R AR Pl R
18 B8 2% 52 B AR 2 R B A BT AR A A R AR R
P % 2 % e

Fiv A A5 A B A B T (D A AR B WS A e R Y
S0 FD PR R A STt o A B B ELABRR T A
T E K AT 8RBT A R 183 7 ) B B
Vs 184 S0 D R e R A S i o A7 B RO AT AT 36K
0 485 (| B9 <5 B 4 H 3R 488 [m) B 200 ) R
DHERS I IS A R e

HE VB R 5k B 3G i M 2k

B WA iR A S A S (B A A R ) T s B
AR R 7 LA R0 o i 11 44 B IR D 4 A% 1D
B BT > R IR AR A HE R 2
WA o ik % A% S 11 98 A7 40 A0 1 R M) T o B
REZAC MRl ZFEHERSTH
HE 25 -

B WA R A T LA T PR ) A i 4 i B AR Bl A
£ 1B 1 51 IR (S BT EE 1 (m)() -

B

A7 IS AT U IR DA P (6 A B 52
G A AR o KRR AR > AR Kk
AR B 7R o R R R < R B IR () (D
(9 28 5L > A AF: o] A )E B B A ) 4
TP ) 5 5 A A TR 00 [T R 48 4R O R o

HE A W 5 B 3G fib M 4+

B AT iR 7 % L A B A 3K 2 4 AP E A
W o FLAR DAHE 8 A 91 R > G B 2 2
J&EEBUBRSE > T RZ A O L ARSI -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 # %k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NE=A=1+—RLLEFE LET:H)

(s)

(®)
(U]

(i)

(iii)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 1(w)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 1(0)).

Policy prior to 1 April 2018

In the comparative period, amounts received, before the goods
were delivered, were presented as advances received under “trade
and other payables”. These balances have been reclassified on 1
April 2018 (see note 1(c)(b)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected
credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(m)

(-
Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payments
are the amounts of future benefits that employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and prior periods, calculated in
accordance with the relevant laws.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and when it
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 1.

(continued)

(u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

T-NF=A=1—RILFE (LBTH)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

At R (1)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE—

(w)

@)

(i)

—NEF=A=f=BIFE BT

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the
Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’
premises or when goods are shipped on board, depending on the
terms agreed with customers, which is taken to be the point in
time when the customer has accepted the goods and obtained the
control of the goods.

Revenue from sales of goods was recognised on a similar basis in
the comparative period under HKAS 18.

Processing service income, management fee income and commission
income

Processing service income, management fee income and
commission income are recognised when the relevant services are
rendered.

Revenue from processing service income, management fee income
and commission income was recognised as a similar basis in the
comparative period under HKAS 18.

(v)

(w)

(i)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEZ

(iv)

)

i)

(x)

—NF=ZA=1T—BI-FE (L&)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Property rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

(\2]

(z)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

(y)

(z)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

(aa)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
garments and textiles, provision of processing services and rental of
properties.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods supplied to
customers, processing service income and rental income.
Disaggregation of revenue by category is analysed as follows:

F A EHBOR (8)

(z) BXMAL (8)

(2) — T WA F AL TS HRAE -
RARAEBMZBENL - ()

(vii) b 3C(1)() BT R B9 BN+ B
A RN A ER (8%
AR FEEHMABRAEZ

— o

(viii) 1) A 42 ) B A 46 [ A 2 m] 4R 4 &
T R B s 2 B U T R
LEZALME AR -

I8 AN B B AR B A B S 4 % 8L )8 K A
T B EL 22 B IR T R S B el R 00 R
A -

(aa) 23 3 %

A5 53 5 B 5 W T 2 0 75 R
FI e 2012 A 9 A 9 Sk 7 O B
552 0% D14 5 B A 9 4 S
i 53 6 B B 5 1 5 09 2 040 B
4 3 o

A SR ) 2 SR R R K B AR I By
A~ SR TR B A E K o

WA BBEAEF BB EEME T
Ml 5 i g Mo FH A i 28 o 45 BRI 3 2 A
i I

2019 2018
it = 1 TF—
$°000 $000
i For
Under the scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from H¥5 % s W %5 3 4 v B 551558 »
contracts with customers: KAFEPGHZHRAMEREN
— Manufacture and sale of garments — Bk T B AR 663,951 695,042
— Manufacture and sale of textiles — BE KB B A Ak 22,285 20,905
— Processing service income — i TR Wi 4 25,262 25,292
711,498 741,239
Under the scope of HKAS 17, Leases: FLIE A & wh e WS 75% -
RIEWE N -
.- Gross rentals from investments properties _ _—B&YEMEME 6116 8,041
717,614 749,280
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographic markets is disclosed in note 10(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified. For the year ended
31 March 2019, revenues of approximately $124,337,000 and
$76,273,000 are derived from two external customers with
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue.
For the year ended 31 March 2018, revenue of approximately
$124,476,000 was derived from a single external customer with
whom transactions had exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue.
These revenues are attributable to the sales of garments. Details of
the concentrations of credit risk arising from the customers are set
out in note 26(a).

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 and does not disclose information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations arising from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date that had an original expected duration of one year or
less.

WA (#1)

iz 3 [ T 355 1 o3 2 % 5 B KU O3 BT R
R EE10(c)

AEBMZEFEREZEZ TN - K 2
T NLNE=ZH=Z=+—HIEFE 4
124,337,0007T X% 76,273,0007C # i A T4
WEMAINEEF > MaZ % %7 085
PR AREIIIEA Z10% » HE ~F— /N
FEZH =+ —HIEFE > £124,476,000
JCHMA TR BB — AN AT W E T
1) & B A R M AR 4R IR A 2 10% - UL 45 i
ABE RS E - HiZSEF I mal &2 F
A7 R B 1) S RO UL E A 8 B AE B sE26(a) -

7 B2 I T A T S i o RIS 1 55 ER
121 B 2 AT AT HE R 7 i > 3 R 45 8 A 4
e R AT B B A AE 5 & 4 AR B R
BRE AR R AL A ERRAZE
B A AR R R TR — A S

....... OTHERINCOME o, 3 MR
2019 2018
~R—JUE TE— A
$°000 $000
T FC
Interest income iDsREm 2,731 1,091
Scrap income BERL I 25 2,131 1,906
Net exchange gain/(loss) T 56l 45, (fes 180) 1 %8 946 (1,018)
Management fee income LN 804 804
Dividend income from equity securities A R 5 2 M R i 2 776 517
Government grants BT Hf By 757 119
Net gain on disposals of other property, HEH ALY 2 -~ R K&
plant and equipment SR Wi A T AR 181 4,610
Net gain on other forward foreign HoAth 72 W A0 RE A 4
exchange contracts Wi i A 130 -
Recovery of receivables written-off WACTRT DA A 4 B B 2 TR WA 3K
in prior years 4 130
Write-off of aged payables B AT 3K IE 1 90
Net claim (expenses)/income WA () i 45 V58 (1,572) 233
Commission income A < U = 71
Sundry income Hopth i #5 1,844 2,313
8,733 10,866
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 5% B =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

4. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

4. . BB i %k A

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): I B A s A E 0B (FEA)

2019 2018
—R®JUE F— )4
$°000 $'000
T Tz
(@) Finance costs (@) A
Interest on bank advances SRAT BRI E
(including bank charges) (ELI54ER1T % ) 3,158 2,410
Cash flow hedges: B
reclassified from equity (note 8(b)) TERE 25 o T 40 B (MY 7E8(b) 348 143
3,506 2,553
(b) Staff costs* (b) H T AR
Salaries, wages and other benefits e T8 R HAAEF 155,490 156,083
Contributions to defined B e R AR ET H A 3K
contribution retirement schemes 11,235 10,232
Provision for long service payments, 12 WA IR 4 H3s A 4
net (note 24) (Kt #t:24) 2,293 1,251
169,018 167,566
(c) Otheritems (c) HfbxH
Cost of inventories® 17 8 A 585,030 611,731
Amortisation of pre-paid interests in FEATAH R 1 1
leasehold land* IR 1) 8 56 57
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) MY G Y (M AE12) 95 95
Depreciation* Preg 4,437 5,005
Net loss on cash flow TERE 35 &8 0 JEI
hedging instruments reclassified BanmEHp TR
from equity (note 8(b)) T 1R (718 (b)) 1,389 2,317
Impairment losses on JRE W R S (L s 18, (Y 7E26(8)
trade receivables (note 26(a)) - 279
Auditors’ remuneration 2% B i M
— audit services — 2T R 1,832 1,657
— other services — HoAth IR s 473 481
Operating lease charges: KMeEHEE
minimum lease payments T KL & A A
— property rentals” —WFE e 6,088 6,342
Rentals receivable from investment VS /ES Ak
properties less direct outgoings of I % % H1,441,0000C
$1,441,000 (2018: $1,328,000) (=% — \4F : 1,328,0007T) (4,675) 6.713)

b Cost of inventories includes $91,741,000 (2018: $88,419,000) relating to #
staff costs, depreciation and operating lease charges, which amount is also

17 BA LS B TA - T8 R AT
> A BEIESL91,741,00000 (= F— )4
88,419,0007C) - A BA&#EIN T 5 AAE L3041
B T J8% B 2 4% TEL A BR # H  SA R o

included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above for
each of these types of expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

5. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 5. HEHERMI AN PIHB
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents: (a) BERBBEMAWIBEL

2019 2018
R -JUE R NF
$°000 $'000
T Tz
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax AAEBEIE — W RI1BL
Provision for the year ZAE BT S A 5,079 3,885
Under-provision in respect of prior years DLAEAE BEE A RN 2 26 -
I 000 s it
Current tax — Overseas AR AR BEIE — BE4b
Credit for the year 2R A JE 13 1] (1,858) 847)
Land Appreciation Tax - b (BB - 486
_______________________________________ (1.858) __(361)
Deferred tax B HiE B
Origination and reversal of T IR 2 S AR B AR (]
_temporary differences ] ©97n 3,730
2,650 7,254
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2019 is calculated at T — JUAR B A R 45 B B A A AE
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the ZALFESE RIS M LA16.5% (& — )\ 4F -
year. 16.5%) B BL 55 -
Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at the T s 5T A MBS 2N ) 2 Bl TE R DU B B R
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries. MZBATBLRFI A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NEF=A=1T—RLFE (LETi)

5. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 5. A HEER WA (F)
....... STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) .
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at (b) B % A 5h R A 3% 0 0 B R 5 Y
applicable tax rates: I .
2019 2018
“F-E S NE
$’000 $000
T F
Profit before taxation 5% A5 1 ¥4 ) 22,951 42,297

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated 4% AH B 58 5 3 JH 2 5 R Bl =

at the rates applicable to profits in the wH B BRBL AT A ) 2 3B IH

countries concerned 5,040 9,456
Tax effect of share of profits of joint ventures JRE A A5 7 A 2 785 R 1% ol T R 28 (3,002) (3,742)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ASTET ek 57 o 1 ol T s 2 5,671 10,110
Tax effect of non-taxable income YEZEFT RO 1 Bl T 5 28 (6,806) (8,035)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses utilised o8 I Rl R B 5 s L 1) e 2 - (4,420)
Tax effect of previously unrecognised temporary A< 4F B fifi i 4F Rl o i 52

differences utilised this year B IRE 22 B B TE G 2 (373) =
Tax effect of deductible temporary ER STk )

differences not recognised 1) B IE 5 2 - 447
Tax effect of unused tax losses A HEFR A B B 548

not recognised ) o T 2 2 2,130 171
Tax effect of undistributed G A ZE AR A e iR A

profits of joint ventures ) o T 2 15 1,221
Under-provision in respect of prior years DL AR BE AR RN 26 -
Others HAth (51) 2,046
Actual tax expense BB S 2,650 7,254

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED &L R &4 B4
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE=Z-NF=A={ = BEEE(LOETH)

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS . . . 6 WFM&E .
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the MR8 7 1 AR 55383(1) 5 M (A 7] (3
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies A 4 G RE) B S5 288 2 KLE M B
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are HZERMEWMT -
as follows:

Salaries, allowances Retirement scheme
Directors’ fees and benefitsinkind ~ Discretionary bonuses contributions Total
fe ik Fd o RS bA Fifited kTR it

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
CRNE CF-AE CRE CEAF CRNE CZ-0E SRk S0 CEnE S0
$000 $000 $§000 $000 $1000 $000 $000 $000 $1000 $000
i 7z i I i 7z i i i i

Executive directors i

Mr. Chan Sui Kau® Bissk s ke - 60 - 2,205 - = - 5 - 2265
M. Chan Wing Fu, Peter WAERE 60 60 1911 1911 500 = - = 2471 1971
M. Chan Wing Kes Bk 60 60 1911 1911 500 = - = 2471 1971
Mr. Chan Wing To BB 60 60 - - - - - - 60 60
Ms. Chan Suk Man Aot 60 60 1,165 1165 300 = - 5 152 1225
Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel BB L 60 60 - - - - - - 60 60
Ms. Chan Suk Ling, Shiriey JIRR &t 60 60 - - - - - - 60 60
Mr. So Ying Woon, Alan e 60 60 1472 1472 500 200 - = 2,032 1,732

Independent non-executive B FHATEE

directors
Mr. Lin Keping Tk 150 10 - - - - - - 150 10
Mr. Sze Cho Cheung, Michael ML SE 1t - 150 - - - - - - - 150
Mr. Choi Ting Ki B 150 150 - - - - - - 150 150
Mr. SoStephen Hon Cheung~ BRiEZ 6% 150 150 - - - - - - 150 150
Mr. Li Guangming# S s 110 - - - - - - 5 110 =
980 1,040 6,459 8,064 1,800 200 - - 9,239 9,904
e Mr. Chan Sui Kau was deceased on 27 March 2018. & B iy BR G A )\ = A - H gk o
Mr. Sze Cho Cheung, Michael has resigned as independent non-executive : AL RSB R — N —H T HBEAL
director of the Company on 2 January 2018. No directors’ fee was paid TSI AT o AN AR R A S A
from the Company during the year. HM Tl -
# Mr. Li Guangming was appointed as independent non-executive director “ BT ER —FE - NE—H HERITR
of the Company on 2 January 2018. No directors’ fee was paid from the ARATBSLFRPATHEE - KALAFRAEE -F
Company during the year ended 31 March 2018. — JEZA=+—HILFEFE R EFR

W TR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

7. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST /'
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2018:
three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 6. The
emoluments of the two individuals (2018: two individuals) for the
year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

e AL

FE TR 2 A s = (ZF— A
G =) BT - A BN R Y M 2
R WE F U= =+ B R
BER AL (S — A A L) 2
ST

2019 2018

R —JUE E N

$°000 $'000

i FIC

Salaries and other emoluments 4 M H A 4 2,481 2,481
Discretionary bonuses ) 175 1E 4L 1,100 1,000
Retirement scheme contributions VER NS IR E g 112 112
3,693 3,593

The emoluments of the two individuals (2018: two individuals) with
the highest emoluments are within the following band:

AL o e B N (O — A - Wi A
£ BB & F T S [ ]

2019 2018
— 2 hAE —E— A

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,0017¢ %.2,000,0007C 2 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

8. (OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME = 8. Jifb&wmid¥s . ...
(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive (a) il 2 i MR 2 19 4% AH 9 T By WG BE 5 5
income
2019 2018
e 2R3 ZE-NE
Before-tax Net-of-tax ~ Before-tax Net-of-tax
amount  Tax effect amount amount Tax effect amount
REAR  BERE BAKAE BENeE  HERE  REKeE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fi T T Fr FI Fr
Exchange differences on JE 5261 <
translation of:
— financial statements of subsidiaries - BEABRIME
outside Hong Kong UNGILiB 8 (6,884) - (6,884) 10,154 = 10,154
- share of joint ventures’ net assets - PR RE A
B A (36,896) - (36,396) 55,618 - 55,618
(43,780) - (43,780) 65,772 - 65,772
Release of exchange reserve to profit & — e A R A
or loss upon disposal of interest in B 2GR
an assoclate (note 14) 14 Hit14) (55) - (55) - - -
Equity investments at FVOCI; BRI AT ATHEE
net movement in the investment NI RRERE S 4 G
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) B E A G
(NPT B2 80 4 1,087 - 1,037 - = =
Avalable-for-sale securities: Wk RS
change in fair value recognised R B A
in the investment revaluation reserve RENATEEZD
during the year - - - (1,370) - (1,370)
Net movement in the hedging reserve H G B 2,701 (446) 2,255 2,701) 446 (2,255)
Other comprehensive income KAk (40,097) (446) (40,543) 61,701 446 62,147
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

8. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8. Hib 2w W A (A)
....... (oMt ed) e
(b) Components of other comprehensive income, including (b) il 2 v W A 1 AHL 8 By (4 65 5597 4 80
reclassification adjustments )
2019 2018
it 2y 2 ZE—
$000 $000
Fr T
Cash flow hedges: BReRaE:
Effective portion of changes N E W LR
in fair value of hedging instruments ARy 10 2 PAE (B 5 B
recognised during the year 964 (5,161)
Reclassification adjustments for g ik
amounts transferred to profit or loss: AR 45 2 S
— revenue - A 1,389 2,317
— finance costs — Rl AR 348 143
Net deferred tax (charged)/credited to 0 %iE i JE 15 48 % HoAth 2 1
other comprehensive income & ANNE I I N (446) 446

Net movement in the hedging reserve 45 (A1 i Al 4 1 iz 45 74

during the year recognised in other TibE 0 P S o f £ 528 B % A
comprehensive income 2,255 (2,255)
Equity investments measured DA 3% 38 Al 2 v B 2% 45 4 P-4
at FVOCI: N Tig Sd i F s
Changes in fair value recognised A ERR A TAE (52 B)
during the year 1,037 -
Net movement in the investment A D oAt 2 T i 25 FERR Y
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) B EAG A OR o] m)
during the year recognised in other ) 1 5H
comprehensive income 1,037 -
Available-for-sale securities: Wk A R
Changes in fair value recognised N HERR AT E (42 H)
during the year = (1,370)
Net movement in the investment TR A L At 4 T Wi 5 AE R A
revaluation reserve (recycling) during B EAG A (] ]
the year recognised in other SEE T
comprehensive income - (1,370)
9. . EARNINGSPERSHARE o S BIBRBR
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) FBIEARRF
The calculation of basic earmnings per share is based on the profit B I L A 2 R T AR P E B B A AR 4 W)
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of B % HE A N {3 F122,062,0005T (—
$22,062,000 (2018: $36,558,000) and the weighted average & — J\4E 1 36,558,0007T) M F A B 17
number of 206,748,000 (2018: 206,748,000) ordinary shares in W i 2 T HESF- 1 #206,748,000% (=%
issue during the year. — J\4F 1 206,748,000/%) 514 -
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) 4 It i 9% 7 A
The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per B2 X NFL_F—-/NF=ZH=Z+—
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence H R4 > AR 48 7 I 48 5L AT 78 7 385 3 e
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018. 2 I 5 O g R A 8 ) B g i 4

LA FRIR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE—

10.

(a)

T-NEZA=1T—BIEE (L ETH)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments:

—  Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles: this segment
covers the manufacture and sale of garment and textile
products, and provision of garment processing services.

— Interests in joint ventures: the Group’s joint ventures engage in
the manufacture and sale of textile yarn products.

—  Property leasing: this segment leases commercial and industrial
premises to generate rental income.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Manufacture and sale of garments and textiles and property leasing
segments

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of intangible
assets, other financial assets, deferred tax assets, current tax
recoverable and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
all liabilities managed directly by the segments with the exception
of current tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate
liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation”, where ‘“interest” is regarded as including
investment income and finance cost and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as net valuation gains on investment
properties, auditors’ remuneration and other head office or
corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest income
and finance costs from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used by the
segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

10. 23 3 %

(a)

A SR T DLy AR B SE B o A 4 B DL )
AL M R ATECE BB AR 2 WO R (5
Oy BB IR L wr A R B — 2 i X2 5L
T = AR T B E o A 42 B Sl S I AT AT
KeB oy A R LR T SUH T 2 WA

- B RO R BB AR A e TR
5 B J 8 A5 BUAR B #75 AE B o BB
AR N TR

- AEMEMELE AEEaE SRS

- WEME : Bt AR A P SE & T
F LA O & Wi g e

oy MBS AR~ VR R AU

S WP AG 0 R R B B 4y L R E IR > AR
AT BN B LT R KT
R EOAR B AR - HE MR

R T Y B 4 T 97 Sk ik B ¥y B AT A

DHMEEGMGETAEE > BEAGEREE
B HAb Mg E - BEBIHEE - ATk
[m] A H B0 T B HL A b S E o 2 EB AR
HmaoMEREHN A Al BEAERE
JE AR A 0 B0 I ~ A0 S Bt I A R LAt A 3
FfE-

3 L 2 AT 2R A3 R A WA B S R DS
3 # BT FEE AR A WSO 0 S B R TE L oy
W I A5 i B T R Y ST RE e

FARS B W A 1R 2w T B
[ AR ATBR A ~ BLIH - 785 R G Y &
AL TR WL 5 45 15 & Wi sk M fil
A T T A R ) LA R R B B
(Y Bl (6 M5 12 o 7E SH I TR B ER A S - B
JH - YT S A LM Ry AR SR e
Slf7 408 1Y e gt A B B 2 JEOE (]
Wy S A L WA A T R - A S I < S L A 4R
I ol B A AT BUSAS ) i — TR o

BRES AR BB FE - BLE - TER
51 A0 00 A | 2 4 ECEOREAN A B TR
A B (RL3E 7> M8 2EBS IG5 8) ~
O A B B A R R AR ALk
gt K B AR IR G R (s 1E
oy G E R R R E R
Bl o g0 ] 8 B ) E (H TS 2 %5 HAb AME A
T Z B AT BB A% -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

10. 7% #8 % o (#)

(a) Zr¥EHE - WA & AT (8)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Interests in joint ventures

The Group’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, and
presented as a separate reportable segment. The Group’s senior
executive management reviews the post-tax result of the interests
in joint ventures, which is defined as the reportable segment
profit/loss for this particular segment. Reportable segment assets
represent the Group’s share of net assets of the joint ventures.
Revenue of joint ventures is not presented as reportable segment
revenue because it is not reviewed by the Group’s senior executive
management for resource allocation purposes.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 is set out below:

G-y F

AEEZ GEAEM RS M RERRE
T G RHE AN WL — B H T 2
Gy RSN o A SR B AR AT BUE BN B R B
FENERER R Z R HREER
oy BB R E AR T B o W AR R
JHT 2 ooy i AR AR A A B 2k
EEFE - mR AL S RATEE AR
RAFEHNGBECEHEEHUMAEERD
Fie > 8 8 B R R ZH T 2 o J Ol A B
IR o

BREF-NFR-FZ-NEF=ZH=1+—
HoLk4F B - 7 4 4R 43 7 A 45 I B 47 L
BB AEE IR B 235 R BLEE A 1
AT B ERWMT

Manufacture and sale of Interests in
garments and textiles joint ventures (nofe) Property leasing Total
TR A B
R aRERER (1) VESIT it
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
SR CENE ZFAE ST ZFAE CR0F CRuE CTAR
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

i i i

7 i 123 7 123

Revenue from externl customers AR A MR F P HIMEA 711,498 741239 - - 6,116 8,041 717,614 749,280
Inter-segment revenue AAERFIIA - - - - 1316 1316 1,316 1316
Reportable segment revenue PRI AERA 711,498 741239 - - 7432 9,357 718,930 750,596
Reportable segment profit ERES Tipsy]

(adjusted EBITDA) (WREMBRAR - BB

R wARA) 15,556 16,560 12,007 14,967 6,795 8,834 34,358 40,361

Interest income FE 2,731 1,091 - - - - 2,731 1,091
Finance costs HERA (3,506) 2,559 - - - - (3,506) (2,559
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (4,588) 5,157) - - - - (4,588) (5,157)
Impairment loss on R BB e R

plant and equipment (5,170) (4,758) - - - - (5,170) 4758
Impaiment loss on trade receivables  REWUIE i (B 1 - (279 - = = = = (279
Reportable segment assets ERES 1is 3 546,456 570519 546,154 571,043 306,867 304103 1300477 1445755
Additions to non-current EENHE

segment assets durng theyear BN TERE 7,008 2005 - - - - 7,008 2005
Reportable segment liabilities %7 2RI AE K 108908 105,133 - e - = 108,908 105,133
Note: Other financial information regarding the interests in joint ventures is Wiz © S ERES MM &R R W15

disclosed in note 15. W #z o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 B =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE
10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b)

“E-NE=A=T—BIFE (KB

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets

10. 73 #8 % o (#1)

(b) ZUT R B2 BBOA - B R - B

and liabilities B f1 i 2 H Ik
2019 2018
ZR—AE TR 4
$°000 $000
F T
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue T 2Tl A 718,930 750,596
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 53 FBZEFS [T U A A B 8 (1,316) (1,316)
Consolidated revenue A 717,614 749,280
Profit i A
Reportable segment profit derived R EEESNREF HT 2
from the Group’s external customers 4303 A (R FnBRFLE - Bl
(adjusted EBITDA) TH ~ Yres B e A 2R 34,358 40,361
Finance costs Rl AR (3,506) (2,553)
Interest income FILEL R AR 2,731 1,091
Depreciation and amortisation e K g (4,588) (5,157)
Impairment loss on plant and equipment W75 % s Al e (B s 4R (5,170) (4,758)
Net valuation gains on investment properties T 2L A (0 A VAR 3,361 17,545
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses A $H 4430 K A 25 4% 1) (4,235) (4,232)
Consolidated profit before taxation A A BB AT I A 22,951 42 297
Assets ¥ne
Reportable segment assets AT RN IBEE 1,399,477 1,445,755
Elimination of inter-segment assets 3 B SE T ] A A 3 B (64,628) (63,636)
1,334,849 1,382,119
Intangible assets eI 2,985 3,080
Other financial assets HoAth 4 il 20,011 4,611
Current tax recoverable AT ] A B I 347 131
Deferred tax assets % SIE o T = 271
Unallocated head office and corporate assets RO FE AU e A 918 939
Consolidated total assets A E 1,359,110 1,391,151
Liabilities £
Reportable segment liabilities JHT 2 EB A 108,908 105,133
Current tax payable JRE A5t A A o T 14,709 16,036
Deferred tax liabilities 0 S T 4 16,516 17,013
Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities AT AR M A 2E A fE 4,232 4,002
Consolidated total liabilities e B AR 144,365 142,184
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

10. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

10. 7% #8 % o (#)

(c) 3o Ik 23 %8 %6 B

(¢) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of () the Group’s revenue from external customers and
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and
equipment and interest in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases, intangible assets and interests in joint ventures
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the services were
provided or the goods delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical location of
the asset, in the case of investment properties, other property,
plant and equipment and interest in leasehold land held for own use
under operating leases, the location of the operation to which they
are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, and the location of
operations, in the case of interests in joint ventures.

TR A B () A F 2 BN E
A5 R(iA 4R F 85 B ) 36~ oAb A 3 - i
R I R AR B 2 B E T
MMESE - M & E Ra B b ([FE
I E EE D) B > ARE R o &R TR
b % B2 4t e 5 Bk B B T2 o 4 E R
BEEPHBEYE - R BFE X
B R EREEE s A MEE L
At T 7E i 2 AR R YRR L B I E I
TE & 1 T S T R O b B T E T
A S HE i T AE Hb ) 92 A 08 B S o

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
K HA R % P B 5 I 8 Wl o
2019 2018 2019 2018
TR JUE - )E SR —RE D FNEFE
$°000 $°000 $°000 $000
T S T Tz
Hong Kong (place of domicile) s (4 45 [ BT 75 Hh) 36,860 44,255 257,593 255,827
Europe T
— United Kingdom — B[ 77,665 111,321 - -
— ltaly - BRA 141,038 137,493 = =
— Spain - PEBE 58,342 71,593 - -
- Germany — 18 112,434 89,293 - -
— Other European countries — HAth R M B & 29,090 32,002 = =
Mainland China Hp B K 36,510 36,631 584,898 613,219
North America JEEm
— United States - E£H 135,645 115,173 - =
- Canada - JnExX 7,658 9,749 - =
Others HoAt 82,372 101,770 4,940 5,294
R 680,754 . 705,025 589,838 . 618,513
717,614 749,280 847,431 874,340
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 B =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER 11. &5 E - LW E - B Kk
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND fis LS L
....... LEASEH O LD L AN e e
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) M i 41 8 J
Interest in
leasehold
land held
Land and for own
buildings use under
held for Plant and Other Investment operating
ownuse  machinery assets Sub-total | properties leases Total
B R
iiRw} Wip; ZHIRLE
i o8 RS Rk M| BEWE LHRMES it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr I I
Cost or valuation: A :
At 1 Aprl 2017 RoF—tENA—H 101,102 94,261 88,962 284,325 220,579 2,687 507591
Exchange adjustments B S 3,464 6,213 3,896 13,573 2432 287 16,202
Additions #E 5 1073 932 2,005 S S 2,005
Disposals ik (1,491) (27,839 (2,227) (31,557) S = (31,557)
Fair value adjustment ATE R 5 = = = 17545 = 17545
A3iMarch208  R-FMESASEOR 108075 78708 91563 | 268346 | 240556 2914 | 51876
Representing; R
Cost %S 79,309 73,708 91,563 244,580 = 2,974 247554
Valuation - 1988 il - — AN 23,766 = = 23766 S S 23,766
Valuation - 2018 fili- Z%F -\ - - = = 240,556 = 240,556
103,075 73,708 91,563 268,346 240556 2,074 511876
Cost or valuation: ARSI
At 1 April 2018 RZF—EMA - 103,075 73,708 91,563 268,346 240,556 2,974 511,876
Exchange adjustments HE 3.3 (2,213 (3,239 (2,704) (8,246) (1,678) (187) (10,111)
Additions H#E 5 3,712 3,386 7,098 S S 7,098
Disposals itk - (1,166) (1,947) (3,113 S S (3,113
Fair value adjustment ATE R - - - - 3,361 - 3,361
AM3iMach209  REFMESASEOR 10082 295 028 | 4085 ) 2229 2787 | 509111 |
Representing: ik
Cost A& 77,006 72925 90,298 240,319 S 2,787 243,106
Valuation - 1988 i - — AN 23,766 = = 23766 S S 23,766
Valuation - 2019 il - ZF—- 0% - - = = 242,239 S 249,039
100,862 72,925 90,298 264,085 242,239 2,787 509,111
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER 11. BeEWE - AW E - BE K
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND i B AL A% 1 (4F)
....... LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a) MR i 48 3 M (489)
Interest in
leasehold
land held
Land and for own
buildings use under
held for Plant and Other Investment operating
own use machinery assets Sub-total properties leases Total
] R AR
fl -4 L1 Z AR
ki R Jeu ki it fENE  LuHER it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i T i 7 7 i
Accumulated amortisation, B 97 WA
depreciation and impairment:
At 1 April 2017 RZF—LEmA—-A 47,800 91,616 79,763 219,179 - 1,334 220,513
Exchange adjustments A% 2,250 6,262 3,846 12,358 - 145 12,503
Charge for the year FEERHLITE 2634 642 1729 5,005 5 57 5,062
Written back on disposals HE R (1,342 (27,639 (2,19) 31177) - - (31,177)
Impairment loss WEEH - - 4758 4758 5 5 4758
MSiMach2ots  BCECMEEASECR S ] [ L. 90 | 20028 | .. O [ N 211,69 |
At 1 April 2018 R-Z—NFRA—H 51,342 70,881 87,900 210,123 - 1,536 211,659
Exchange adjustments ERE (1,446) (3,240) (2,650) (7,336) - @7) (7,433
Charge for the year FEERHRIE 2582 656 1199 4437 5 5 4493
Written back on disposals HERR R - (1,166) (1,904) (3,070) - - (3,070)
Impairment loss WEEH - 3902 1178 5170 5 5 5170
MSiMach20t9 BCECUESASRCR 52478 ] s 87128 | 0984 | .. L. D 210819 |
Net ook value: TR :
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-NEZA=1—H 48,384 1,802 4575 54,761 242,039 1292 298,292
At 31 March 2018 RZF-AE=A=1—H 51783 2821 3,663 58,223 240,556 1,438 300,217
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Fair value measurement of properties
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant

P 3R 0 4 1 B
4T 1 i B

AR B A G R R R A AR
EEF Y > WARE (s B 5 3 i
A 551358 [ A P fH (B 5t & | B A2 i A7
1 (B 08 % U0 =R AR o P E(E R &
B 2 0 JE G $EAG B T7 ik P B T B 2 W]
BN I B A BT R E

- BRI E RO — SRR B

% > AR IR B A A AR AR R
BT bR OR AR R B AR A
- (H

- B IERAIANAE - RTS8 B

B R BE A A 5 — O ) T B A Mg
HARAERA T BEYERG AL
AEAE o A AT BB BUR B RS
5 Bk

- =R E R E RN B

unobservable inputs kA T EM
Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2019 31 March 2019 categorised into
W _Z— N4
=ZH=Z+—H W2 NIE=ZHA=1—H
Z AP A PR 2 U DA R SO0
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
5 it 3| =400
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
N T T T
Recurring fair value B PEA P A ] R
measurements
Investment properties: wgyE -
— Mainland China - PN 24,667 - - 24,667
- Hong Kong - B 217,572 - - 217,572
Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2018 31 March 2018 categorised into
A & — J\AE
“H=+—H WoE—/NE=ZH=1+—H
2N FEAE OB R T 5 DL 8RR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
55— Al 5 5 2 =5
$000 $000 $000 $000
S TIC Tz TIC
Recurring fair value FRH P AP B B
measurements
Investment properties: WEYE
— Mainland China - R RE 26,648 - - 26,648
— Hong Kong - 213,908 - - 213,908
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NEF=A=1T—RLFE (LETi)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER 11. &Y% - Ak - WG K
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND i B AL 1 b (&)
....... LEASEHOLD LAND (continued) .
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (continued) (b) Py A 7 i wl 5 (40
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) 2V E % (4
During the year ended 31 March 2019, there were no transfers éﬁﬁ: L= NFE=A=1+—HILFEE &
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 LN O | Il 3 (T T 4z |
(2018: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between jTﬁii$iﬁ}\jZ$Etlj TR )R ) o AR
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in A0 BOOR AE E H MERR T B A 1 N TR
which they occur. {H g 2% W) 2 *Z
All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 REHFTABREYER - F—LE=H
March 2019. The valuations of investment properties located in S HHEATE AN o 7R A U S B R B
Hong Kong and Mainland China were carried out by independent Z BG4y Rl b g8 S ) R AT 5 5
firms of surveyors, Knight Frank Petty Limited and RHL Appraisal TR AT A R 2 7 Mook B AT 68 (8 B 1 A FR
Limited respectively, who have among their staff Fellows of the NEMERAEE > ZEWEMITZME B F
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the W EMEeEESE > BT EY
location and category of property being valued. The Group’s Eva EE&%EEEU B W w485 - NAEEH
management have discussion with the surveyors on the valuation EEATAS(E R > 42 B L8 C B &= F AT 5
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed i A B e S Ak B 45 R o
at the end of the reporting period.
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) 155 =W 21 B g &
Valuation Unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs Range average
A B
RT3 P58 i IMBETE- 3
Investment properties &%
— Mainland China PN Market Adjusted RMB27,735 RMB28,709
comparison price per to RMB29,611 (2018:
approach sq. m. (2018: RMB29,067)
T8tk IR Z RMB26,656
MR to RMB31,843)
- Hong Kong - i Market Adjusted  $2,790 to $9,290 $2,871
comparison price per (2018: $2,740 (2018: $2,820)
approach sq. ft. to $9,180)
5 ik BF TR
R R A
Income Average $9.3 $9.3
capitalisation market rent (2018: $9.1) (2018: $9.1)
approach per sq. ft.
iz E AL per month
EIRR7S R B
VLNR R
Capitalisation 4% 4%
rate (2018: 4%) (2018: 4%)
EAAL

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED &L R &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE=Z-NF=A={ = BEEE(LOETH)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

(o)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Mainland China
and certain investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined using market comparison approach by reference to
recent actual sales and/or asking price of comparable properties
on a price per square meter and square feet basis respectively,
adjusted for quality and location of the buildings and income
potential. Higher the value of adjusted price will result in a higher fair
value measurement.

The fair value of certain investment properties located in Hong Kong
is determined using income capitalisation approach by capitalizing
the rent derived from the existing tenancies with reference to market
rent and the provision for any reversionary income potential. The
capitalisation rate used in income capitalisation approach has been
adjusted for the expected market rental growth, occupancy rate and
quality and location of the buildings. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the market rent and negatively correlated to
the risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the
line item “net valuation gains on investment properties” on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Exchange adjustment of investment properties is recognised in other
comprehensive income in “exchange reserve”.

All the gains recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from the
properties held at the end of the reporting period.

11.

BEYE - WL
i B ALAE 1 3k (&)

o 3% 0 2 1 R B ()
W5 = BB 2V A it 72 1 2 (A)

(080T PNEFIE S <E7/E P& i R N
Y 15 B W) S B 2 T BB S BRI T 3 Ll sk
i > A B 2% F] A L ) S ) 4
7 K RS 7 W H RS B sy
B ROBHE T I E B e - MR
A T8 7 A A R o 1 (EAY o R AR R
B RN A EER R -

AT AL A A BUE W S A (E TS BR
MW i AL R IE B E o TR AR A
BAMAKMHEEREEAL 2 BiiE
4 > LR A RZ Y 36 A 39 3 4% T RE R
B &2 MR o TR EAL R % P T
B AAL R CARE 2T 10 T 3 T Y
iR - (5 A AT 0B M B 55
DRI 3% 1 o) o B o 4 1B (W o B i R A
SIE AR - B B o AR R B AL L
HER IR -

BUE W) S0 O P B 98 B T RR R AR A 1R AR
F BT BCE Wy A (0 AR A e

B W) 2 09 HE 5L 9 B e SR T A 2 T Ui 4R
N2 [l St )

A AR AR i oK) RIS BT A i 2 B R
MAHRARYE-

The analysis of net book value of properties is as follows: (c) PEMW T WTF :
2019 2018
—R4E ot SN2
$°000 $'000
F Tz
In Hong Kong — medium term leases FH - IS 255,336 253,661
Outside Hong Kong — medium term leases FHWEAN — P IH A 36,579 40,066
291,915 293,727
Representing: C% -
Land and buildings held for own use FRE B R0 b R 48,384 51,733
Investment properties gL/ E 242,239 240,556
Interest in leasehold land held for HEREHEZ A A
own use under operating leases FHE - b AR 2R 1,292 1,438
291,915 293,727
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NEF=A=1T—RLFE (LETi)

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, OTHER

(e)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LEASEHOLD LAND (continued)

Assets leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to three years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals. All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property are classified
as investment properties.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under

11.

BEYE - Y - BB Kk
i B AL 15 - 3k (&)
....... &%é%ééggﬁégémwmmmm

AEBMUKEHBESH R HEEYE - H
BEaMFENNE B —FE=41H
AR SR AR A - T R BT A A A R
AN EHT I ko B A L B A0 A LA B
e - TAERFaREYRERUREM
BERARYE DI BB EYE -

A G B AR SRR TR BR A RS A B S A 1E H

non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows: 15 JRE AT 1Y S5 IR R B A9 Bk AR g
2019 2018
—R4E ot SN2
$°000 $:000
T Tt
Within 1 year —FLN 4,944 4,944
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHRMEHELIR = 4,944
4,944 9,888

Impairment losses (e) WA NG 4

A subsidiary of the Company engaged in garment manufacturing in
Bangladesh which constituted a single cash generating unit (“CGU”)
of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, this subsidiary recorded
operating losses which indicated the plant and equipment belong
to this subsidiary might have been impaired. As such, the Group
assessed the recoverable amounts of the plant and equipment
of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2018. As a result, the carrying
amounts of the plant and equipment of the subsidiary was written
down to its recoverable amount of $5,130,000. During the year
ended 31 March 2019, the performance of the CGU further
deteriorated and based on the impairment assessment performed
by the management, the recoverable amount reduced to zero as
at 31 March 2019. Accordingly, an impairment loss of $5,170,000
(2018: $4,758,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2019. The estimates of recoverable amount were
based on value-in-use calculations which adopted a discount rate
of 16.9% (2018: 24.5%). The discount rate used was pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the subsidiary.

Impairment loss on plant and equipment is recognised in the line
item “impairment loss on plant and equipment” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

AR 2 T B R 7 0 G A

Nf A A S T — B AR R ([ B A
BAL)
BWE-F-NF=A=Z+—HIEFEN-

M E A SRS R R H TS
W S B 5% A T RE A7 TE Bk o A 4 1
CE - NEZA=ZT - HEHE R E A A
Wi B B B 2 T Wi IR A RE > e AR EL IR
TA] {H % W] U ] 4 %65,130,0007C © # & —
E-NE=ZH=+—HILEE > HEELE

B R BUE — AL AR R B
THWERMN > R F - LFE=A=+—

Bl ar e o &3 m 22 o ik > REE—
T RAE=ZA =+ — B ILAFFE B R R
F8{E 5 105,170,00008 (& — JU4E ¢
4,758,00070) ° A Wi [l 4 BH 2 Ak TR
PE R E (5T Bk T s I R R B R
16.9% (=% — /\4FE 1 24.5%) HEATAEHL -
1 2 B B 2 5 BRI S s 5% B JE s w
A1 JE B o

i 5 B S R (8 s 4R Tl R
B TR B R s k(R 4R

\Av’ﬁ }‘ %zé
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

12. I % i

Club debentures

i f
$000
FT
Cost: WA
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, WoFE—LFENMA—H - F—/4FE=ZH
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 =F—H - ZF =/ FNUH—H K =F—]L
R, A= T 3309
Accumulated amortisation: HEHay -
At 1 April 2017 W —tHNA—H 134
Charge for the year A B 95
At3iMarch20t8 .. REF-AEEA=VH 229
At 1 April 2018 AT — )\EMH—H 229
Charge for the year AT 95
At8tMarch2ot9 REEF-AE=A=T-H 324
Net book value: Y i V- ¢
At 31 March 2019 WoE—NHFE=ZH=1+—H 2,985
At 31 March 2018 WoE—NF=H=1—H 3,080

A E AT A G RERNH
ftn K8 IR

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “other operating
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

13. EE)E A

TREIR -F-NFE=A=+—H #
AEBES BERABEAERVEZE
T A F 2 wEAE o BR A GE WAL 5 P

13. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(@ The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which  (a)
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group at 31
March 2019. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated. A2 AR ¥ 1 W i
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of Group’s
establishment and issued and effective Principal
Name of company business paid up capital interest activities
ko CHiT K ABH
kL B S e A EEREHE R EV S 31
Hong Kong Knitters Limited Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares 100% Garment
FAE A RA A Fits 3,000,000 fi% manufacturing and
investment holding
B
Exquisite Knitters (Guangzhou) Limited The People’s Republic HK$75,600,000 100% Knitting and dyeing
AR (R A R A \)¢ of China (“the PRC”) of fabrics and
2 manufacturing
of garments
i kg ~ B
B AR
Whampoa Garment Manufacturing The PRC HK$18,000,000 100% Garment
(Guigang) Co., Ltd w2 manufacturing
ORI A (W) AR A JAK
Whampoa Garment Manufacturing The PRC HK$4,000,000 100% Ceased operation
(Guangxi) Co., Ltd w2 during the year
ORI A (B7Y) A BRA A T A A B A 45 1 7
Lavender Garment Limited Bangladesh Taka35,511,050 100% Garment
Y1 EA manufacturing
Vestis Limited United Kingdom GBP2 100%  Garment wholesaling
e BEAHE
Dagon Talent Garment Limited Myanmar USD1,000,000 75% Garment
At manufacturing
JAK
E The English translation of the names is for reference only. The official names & ZESEHL R LM E XN Z

of these entities are in Chinese. These are also wholly-owned foreign

investment enterprises registered in the PRC.

The subsidiaries of the Group do not have material non-controlling

interests.

FHEMSH o 50 A &R b Gk ks 2

EEWMASER AR -

A S [ 1Y B R 2 D Sl 2 A ORI O AR
HHE 4 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

13.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

On 20 September 2018, the Company, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, entered into equity transfer agreements
to acquire 31% equity interests in Lavender Garment Limited
(“Lavender”) from the non-controlling equity holders of Lavender
at a consideration of USD467,000 (equivalent to $3,663,000).
Upon completion of the above acquisition, Lavender became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

JRE A 4 (L
BB I E R

Share of net assets
Less: Impairment loss

13.

LR )E A A (8)

M_FE—-NENLAZ+H AR BE®
AL — 2 WA WE A R R L R
WO ok > DL 467,000 00 (M H
7#3,663,0007C) MLavender Garment
Limited ([ Lavender]) JE ¥ B HE 25 £ 8 A
W i Lavender ) 31% i 0y i 25 o 58 A b alt
W% > Lavender M B A E 2 GBS
B JEg A 7 o

B A E BE AR

2019 2018

—2 I TFE— )\
$’000 $’000

i N

- 1,220

- (1,220)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group disposed of
its entire 20% equity interest in the associate, Guangdong Xi Mu
Industrial Company Limited, to the other existing shareholder at nil
consideration. Upon disposal, a non-cash gain of $55,000 arising
from the release of exchange reserve was credited to profit or loss.

BE-T-NE=ZA=Z+t—HILEE K
A5 T DA AR 0 JFG S g 8 D B SRV 4
A R R 2 E20% B HE i & T 5
—BUA A o R R f8E (B R T RE
il 45 T /€ £E #955,000 7T JF Bl 4 i i 2 FEA
i o

. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES = = . 15. BB
2019 2018
e S K- 2 e SN
$’000 $’000
i Fo
Share of net assets JEEAG 546,154 571,043
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures, which is accounted AL DAME 25 N S A MBS RS IR 2 A
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, SRR ZFERWR

are as follows:

Place of Group’s
establishment effective
Name of joint venture and business interest  Principal activities
FBREELN O RSBy ARBEEEERRER  REER
Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. (note) The PRC 49%  Investment holding
U5 — AR G A RA ) (M 7E) Hh g gL
Taizhou Changxin Textile (Xinghua) Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacturing of
ZEMR A (BLAL) A BRA | H textile products
By ik i B
Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Inactive
S e BB 35 A PR ) Hh g Wi
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Manufacture and sale
85 1= VRS 5 507 A B 2 ) Hh g of textiles
Bk T B Bk
Dongtai NAA Textiles Co., Ltd. The PRC 49%  Inactive
WA MR A BRA A el s 2
GYT (HK) International Development Limited* Hong Kong 49%  Investment holding
ik gL
GYTA (Cayman) Investment Co., Ltd* Cayman Islands 49%  Investment holding
BH & B by BB
GYTB (BVI) Investment Co., Ltd* British Virgin Island 49%  Investment holding
(“BVI) BB
B R LR
GYTC (BVI) Development Co., Ltd* BVI 49%  Inactive
B R LR g
Wuxi Number One Cotton Ethiopia Textile PLC* Ethiopia 49%  Integrated
B IEAR AR manufacturing of yarn,
fabric and garment
BB~ A ORHRI AR s
* Wholly owned subsidiaries of Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. i M55 — AR G A PR T 2 G A MHE A A
# These joint ventures are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in # A BAAEY BN RE L2 AN B
the PRC. The English translation of the names of the joint ventures is for A A N S AR E
reference only. The official names of these entities are in Chinese. TENL Tt o
Note: Wuxi No. 1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd. is established by the Group WAt - M5 — A PG A R A B A A 4R [ B OH A A S
and other joint venture partners in Wuxi. It holds the above mentioned WA RS L 2 3 - HEEA b era 2
subsidiaries which are mainly engaged in the production of medium B 2N A > R R AR E PR R A
range to high graded compact yarn, special textile products and garment A~ R B R E R B EE e
products.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 15. B XML (5)

All the joint ventures in which the Group participates are unlisted KEBMBENTAESSENE WHAERY
corporate entities whose quoted market prices are not available. WMAERIE LT AT -
Summarised financial information of Wuxi No.1 Cotton Investment e 45 — FR A% & A IR 7] e B 8 N |
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, and a reconciliation to the carrying BRI E, REGSMERETEGEZ
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed RPN
below:
2019 2018
B ZFE— A
$°000 $'000
T Tz
Gross amounts of joint ventures’ g g 3k
Non-current assets IE I B 1,081,007 977,261
Current assets ) 845,479 817,107
Non-current liabilities I i B A K (54,707) (5,110)
Current liabilities B AR (757,178) (623,864)
Equity HE 2 (1,114,601) (1,165,394)
Included in the above assets and liabilities: AL FEAE bl 1 R AR
Cash and cash equivalents W4 M &5 EY 159,062 167,442
Current financial liabilities (excluding It B < Al AR O 6348 I A R
trade and other payables and provisions) T A EAST 3 B HE ) (471,433) (286,534)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding P N =R O N R D /e
trade and other payables and provisions) T A BEA 3 B HE ) (41,269) =
Revenue e A 1,347,940 1,421,957
Adjusted EBITDA TR FIBR A - BLIE - YT I
58 1T 1 2 ) 97,884 101,751
Profit from continuing operations R A9 K88 2E 5 Vi 24,505 30,545
Other comprehensive income Hofth 2 1 i 2% (801) =
Dividends received ol - (12,926)
Included in the above profit: LG AE b3l i 35 A
Depreciation and amortisation bR € i (55,192 (63,196)
Interest income psYiE 1,165 1,923
Interest expense LS 2 (12,629) (8,536)
Income tax expenses T A5 3 (6,723) (1,397)
Reconciled to the Group’s interests A A A SRR AR 2 IR
in the joint ventures
Gross amounts of net assets B A 3 T A
of the joint ventures 1,114,601 1,165,394
Group’s effective interest A 5 8 B M A 49% 49%
Carrying amount in the consolidated A7 A B TS 2 TR T (L
financial statements 546,154 571,043
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-_T-NF=ZA=+—RLLFE (L&)
16. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

16. 4 45 b %

31 March 2019 1 April 2018 31 March 2018
e = 3 TE— 4 TE— )4
=H=+—H WMH—H =ZHA=+—H
Notes $°000 $'000 $°000
Kt 7t T Tt T 6
Equity securities i 52 7 0 3L il 4 1 B 2
designated at FVOCI e A PR A MR
(non-recycling) JBe B 27 (ARl (), (i)
- Unlisted equity securities ~ — 9k I i i v 55 16,906 15,348 -
— Equity securities listed — F AN T
outside Hong Kong fiesa 3,105 3,756 -
20,011 19,104 -
Available-for-sale wf {3 B A A
financial assets: (i)
— Unlisted equity securities ~ — JE b it sg 5 - = 855
— Equity securities listed — s AN b T R
outside Hong Kong Eog
- - 3,756
- - 4,611
Notes: Mt

)

(i)

The Group designated the following investments in equity securities at
FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investments are held for strategic purposes:

(@)  Companhia de Electricidade de Macau (C.E.M.) SARL, a company
incorporated in Macau and engaged in transmitting, distributing
and selling of electricity in Macau. The fair value of the investment
is $10,403,000 as at 31 March 2019. Dividends of $533,000 were
received on this investment during the year (2018: $517,000);

(b)  World Trade Centre Macau Co. Limited, a company incorporated in
Macau and engaged in development and promotion of international
trade. The fair value of the investment is $6,503,000 as at 31 March
2019. Dividends of $243,000 were received on this investment during
the year (2018: $nil);

(c)  Toyota Tsusho Corporation, a company incorporated and listed in
Japan and engaged in general trading and manufacturing. The fair
value of the investment is $689,000 as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
$714,000). No dividends were received on this investment during the
year (2018: $nil);

(d)  Travelite Holdings Limited, a company incorporated and listed in
Singapore and engaged in investment holding and provision of
management services. The fair value of the investment is $2,416,000
as at 31 March 2019 (2018: $3,042,000). No dividends were received
on this investment during the year (2018: $nil).

Available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) upon the initial application of HKFRS 9
at 1 April 2018 (see note 1(c)(a)).

(i)

A G B A DL 45 8 0 A 4 T AR
- B0 A R 4 JBEHE 8 7 (O AT [m]) A 3 ms R
Hi g -

(@) WP TR A R AR — R
R N A /AR R U AT 8 i
SEMEEE S WIE F— LE=
A=+—H1 ZRENLFEMEL
10,403,00070 ° A 4F B A g ot TH £ &
B i B533,00078 B (& — U4
517,0007C) ;

(b) PR 5 P B A R A R —
(/R G I 7 Al : D /A A 1 =
MR BB S - @1k = F— g =
AZ+—Hib Z#ENSFEMER
6,503,00070 » A 4 B A 5 bt 15 & &
B B243,00070 B (& — U4
i)

(C) 20 7 B X R — R AR R T AR
S K BT RS R S KR
WER - BIE-EF—-NFE=HA=1+—H
1E > %R E M A P {E {H £4689,0007C ©
AR A BE A S 4R A 0 T A i BB (L
T )\AE )

(d) Travelite Holdings LimitedJ& — [
T S ST K b TR 2 R A R
PE R R AR LA IR o Bk = F— A
ZAZ+t—H1k ZERENATEES
2,416,00070 ° A 4F B A S 4 4wt 2 4
BB B (B — U JE) o

T — N H — B OE R i R R
HE RSB OURAR » AT B < AR Y ELRT O
HE R A8 7 925 8 At 2 T i A 1% T 1E (R
Y JBEHE RE % (R AT [E]) (2 BB 321 (c)(a)) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

17. INVENTORIES

(a) FEREFBERERCE

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position

comprise:
2019 2018
ZR—AE TR\ AE
$°000 $000
T Tz
Raw materials JE M R 15,439 10,319
Work in progress TE RS 48,940 47 557
Finished goods B 4,798 10,810
69,177 68,686

(b) 7750 S WIS AR 3 B 42 66 0 4138 M i 2 A

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

and included in profit or loss is as follows: WmF
2019 2018
e Sy K 2 e SIS
$°000 $000
T Tz
Carrying amount of inventories sold B EREE 584,877 612,236
Write-down of inventories 7 B 578 1,230
Reversal of write-down of inventories A7 B s 8 e (425) (1,735)
585,030 611,731

A AF T 2 A7 ] MO [ AR AR AR E
TP A TR B A B A RAR B B > T B
S JEE b T S B YR 00 A R R B

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose
due to an increase in the net realisable value of garment products by
reference to the sales made during the year and subsequent to the
year end.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. M W B sk B 3G fib M WBC sk

2019 2018

ZE U B AE

$°000 $000

T T

Trade debtors JRE i B K 55,984 74,888

Bills receivable R Wi S 28,606 30,744

Less: loss allowance (note 26(a)) W BRI (M 726(a) (3,546) (3,546)

81,044 102,086

Deposits, prepayments and other debtors T4~ TEAST B S H A R Wik 15,284 17,100
Amounts due from related companies iR /NI O

(note 28(c)) (M1 i#28(c)) 1,991 814

Derivative financial instruments i A 4 i T EL 56 -

98,375 120,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B A

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

Substantially all of the Group’s trade and other receivables are
expected to be recovered or recognised as an expense within one
year.

The amounts due from related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and recoverable on demand except for those trade
related items under normal trade terms.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is
as follows:

A B2 [ 2 48 O T oA SR i B L At B ik
P TR  — 4 i (] S RS A S

BR T AEIE W B 5 KT BT iET 2 K 5 o B
g IR R % D TR WA AT - AR
N 5 4 28 %0 B RE i 1] o

W 8% 2> B

A H > AR RS B K A0 B 1R
& 1 WS R Bk B B WACSE 4R (2 FE A BB ROR
AR S A ) B BRSNS

2019 2018

—R—JUAE TR — A

$°000 $°000

S TC

Within 1 month —1E A A" 38,472 41,916
Over 1 month but within 2 months — 1 A A _EA{R R A BAA 18,669 29,245
Over 2 months but within 3 months [EER(E DN S =X DE RN 7,142 16,756
Over 3 months but within 4 months = DS S EN tE (E DE RN 8,801 7,753
Over 4 months VO{E A BLE 7,960 6,416
81,044 102,086

Trade debtors and bills receivable are due between 0 to 120 days
from the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy
are set out in note 26(a).

. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

JRE Wi R R e R i S 0 A 5 B IR0 %120
BB o A B AR 4 T {5 B BOR B9 R 1%
R 5E26(a)

11%%%&%%%%&%%%%%

(a) BERBEFEDBE -

2019 2018

ZZ—hip —E— N E

$°000 $’000

T T

Cash at bank and in hand SRAT 73k M I 4 323,769 323,112

Less: Restricted bank deposits W A2 PR ERAT AE K (112 (4,360)
Cash and cash equivalents in REEA B G RE RN

the consolidated cash flow statement BHeRB &% BY 323,657 318,752

Restricted bank deposits represent guarantee deposit placed at
bank for importing raw materials into Mainland China for custom
purpose.

52 BR il SRAT A7 346 A7 B SRAT 1R 4E O UM et
B v I K o T B AR e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE=Z-NF=A={ = BEEE(LOETH)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 19. B4 KB &5 Y Kk KBl 4%

....... CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) . EY¥FR(#) ...
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from (b) BB MNEEBEHEMEESZHIE
operations:
2019 2018
R —JusE e AN
(Note)
(B 7E)
Note $°000 $000
M 7t T T
Profit before taxation R A i i ) 22,951 42,297
Adjustments for: R
Dividend income from equity securities JBERERS 5 2 I B 2 3 (776) (517)
Interest income FIE Yz 3 (2,731) (1,091)
Gain on disposal of interest o —BrE A
in an associate HE 2 UL 2 14 (55) =
Net gain on disposals of other R A2 - MR R
property, plant and equipment B ETRER 3 (181) (4,610)
Finance costs Rl & AR 4(a) 3,506 2,553
Amortisation of pre-paid interests T A 4 EE
in leasehold land 1Y) 48 815 4(c) 56 57
Amortisation of intangible assets T TY o 4(c) 95 95
Depreciation e 4(c) 4,437 5,005
Impairment loss on plant & ]
and equipment ERIEN SEic 11(e) 5,170 4,758
Share of profits of joint ventures JRE AL & 7 A 3 36k ] (12,007) (14,967)
Net valuation gains on investment BN A
properties e TR 11(a) (3,361) (17,545)
Provision for long service payments IR S Bl 24 2,293 1,251
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss FE 58 (Wess) /s 1R (4,469) 6,389
Changes in working capital: R )
Increase in inventories 17 B B (491) (518)
Decrease in trade and other JARE A B 3 S A
receivables JREMS K BB D 21,681 18,745
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JRRE AST B R At JE AT ¢
other payables H i, () 636 (21,466)
Increase in contract liabilities G #A R 4,952 =
Payment of long service payments R IR 4 5 (246) (903)
Cash generated from operations AR 2L A5 Bl 4 41,460 19,533
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Wi AEEER _-F— /NFENUA —-HEKRERE
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not e B HS E HI ES 1558 I A HE S R e R
restated. See note 1(c). HOUE o LR IR MBI ik o BB R

TEF - 2B E1(C) -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED £{LR &4 B4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES = 20. BEAEHRAK BICABMEAT K ...
31 March 2019 1 April 2018 31 March 2018
e S 2 e S VAN e S VANG
=H=+—H WmA—H =Z=H=+—H
$°000 $’000 $'000
T Tz FIT
Trade creditors JEAS HR K 43,776 46,717 46,717
Bills payable JEAT 25 1,127 = =
44,903 46,717 46,717
Accrued charges and JETT B Y % Ath B A R
other creditors (note) (KtaE) 38,941 33,445 36,969
Amounts due to related JREAST B /A W) O
companies (note 28(c)) (Ktzt28(c)) 198 355 355
Amounts due to joint ventures FEfT &/ 1 26 3k E
(note 28(c)) (Ktzt28(c)) 648 13 13
Derivative financial instruments 774 4 @il T H - 2,353 2,353
84,690 82,883 86,407

Note: As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15, receipts in advance from
customers are included in contract liabilities and disclose in note 21 (see
note 1(c)(b)).

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

The amounts due to related companies and joint ventures are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for those
trade related items under normal trade terms.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors and bills payable (which are included in trade and other
payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Bt o HR ER AN R I RS R MR 5E - KT
TA AT BRI AE A 4 A E R B8
FE21 M (2B HEEE1(c) (b)) °

I A AR R A e Al R AT R T U Y — 4
A5 722 A R 2 SO B 0 R D R 7 o

Br THEIE W & 5 Ak T BT iEfT 2 2 5 -
B~ 7] R 8 A S E R A AT
ARG > U T 192 8 0 B o

JRESEH o AR IR ARG I AT R K e R
548 (B FE A REAT B 3k B HAth 1B A 30 B9
SRt AT AN

2019 2018

ZE N e SN

$°000 $’000

i T

Within 1 month —{f A AN 21,396 22,660
Over 1 month but within 2 months — @A L AR A LA 10,268 15,656
Over 2 months but within 3 months WA A L BB =@ A LA 9,491 5,417
Over 3 months =AML 3,748 2,984
44,903 46,717
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES ... 2L&&A8 .
31 March 2019 1 April 2018 31 March 2018
e Sy K 3 e SIS ZE /4
=H=+—H WH—H =H=+—H
Notes $’000 $000 $000
Wit T T 7T
Receipts in advance &P AT

from customers (i), (i) 4,952 3,524 -

Notes: Wk

[0] The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect (i)
method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 April 2018. Comparative
information has not been restated.

(ii) Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, these amounts were reclassified from (i)
“Trade and other payables” (note 20) to contract liabilities (see note 1(c)(b)).

AEBMORZF - /UENA — HERENE
B 5 A Y I SR 0E o ARLIB T R 4R Y i
Tk WEERR T ES

PR AN v S U A A58 4E - % K
T A R R S L b M A R (B E(20)) 43 3
EHHAM (ZHME(C)(D) -

The Group receives advances from customers before the delivery A AR A A AT & AT ik B & OTE A R
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities upon receipt of o EWREMNERESEESLHALME -
payment. Revenue recognised when the related goods are sold to WA F B B TR P RERERE o fTK
the customers. The payment arrangement is negotiated on a case PR T AR 5 B8 A LB &P 1 04 T A2 e
by case basis with customers.
Movements in contract liabilities AHAFED
$000
L
Balance at 1 April 2018 = AR — H Z &5 R 3,524
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising & &) £ i [F 4 1A #E 52 N SE 4D 51 A
revenue during the year that was included in the B # AR AT Y
contract liabilities at the
beginning of the period (2,130)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result G %9 A 65 TR A4 ISR T 3
of receipts in advance of performance 3,558
Balance at 31 March 2019 B oE-FE=HH—HZER 4,952
The amount of receipts in advance of performance expected to TEH A A — A AR R S U A Y B A A
be recognised as income after more than one year is $1,394,000 W 3k 4 % £41,394,0007C (& — 4
(2018: $1,394,000). 1,394,0007T) -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 # %k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

22,

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of $30,000. The employer’s contributions to the MPF
scheme vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme in Hong Kong for those employees who were
eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme is operated in
a way similar to the MPF scheme, except that when an employee
leaves the scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employee
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited employer’s
contributions or refunded to the employer.

The employees of subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC
are members of a state-sponsored retirement scheme organised
by the local government in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute, based on a certain percentage of payroll, to the
retirement scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these retirement schemes is to make the
required contributions under the terms of the scheme.

. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

22. & BB KA

A% B2 [ B Fi R 5 R N T A w1 2 AR
P E W R 6 18 2 8 8 A & H
ARSI (THEESFSE ) - BELS5
B £ BE 2 At R AR R B R B oL S BT N
oo RYFE A AR E - R A HAE B A
BB R A B Z ik A Z5%1E it
Koo MEdE A A B A Z FBRA30,0007C ©
g = 1) o A < T AR 2 AR R Iy B R R

E o

AW - A BTN 5 A 2 B O
O B O R T SE AR IR R B 2 AR B REST %
wt & o % wt 3 DAL o A a3 2 07 KA
BoOMERARTSEREHEAAELEN
1 58 T I > 3 i A 8 O
PF WA 42 M AR 2 sk OB 2 R -

B2 B A R RS 2 B A R 2 AR B S
I8 5 i O A 4 < T A 2 2 IR BT
B - ZEMBAFHERE TEZ A
T 2 AR AR ARG B K o A4 B R
PRt E B 7R 4 2 v — BAE R S %t B
TE Z K -

23, &xk 45 W5 R DL 35 Bt s W o 43 B

(a) &5 43 50RO 2 BT 8 1 A D91 BE X 2y

2019 2018

ZE — B N E

$°000 $000

T Fr

Current tax recoverable AT Wi R AR 3 B IE (347) (131)
Current tax payable JREASE A% 13 A5 T 14,709 16,036
14,362 15,905
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 23, &5 A WK UL 3R P i P 13 Bt
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (%)
(continued)

(b) CLHEWBIEHEBLIH (B ) AfK -

(i) O 551 I 850k DA o a8 19 3B 4 B 3 (&
FE) H A 3L 1 R A A g S )

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised:

(i) The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during

the year are as follows: T
Depreciation
allowances in
Revaluation excess of the Provision for - Undistributed
of investment related  Provision for  long service profits of  Cash flow
properties ~ depreciation inventories  payments joint ventures hedge Total
&% WRHWGE A nReE Batig
WM ZHELBH TR il KRN Hi i
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T
Deferred tax arising from: BERTEY
At April 2017 REZF—tENA—H 3,267 6,773 (812) (8,092 6,819 - 13,455
Exchange adjustments T 465 (101) (26) (335) - - 3
Charged/(credited) to profit orloss iR Bk / (5HA) 2,240 233 146 (110) 1221 - 3,730
Charged to reserves {ERk R - - = = = (446) (446)
At 31 March 2018 RoE-AEZR=+-H 5972 6,905 (192) (3537) 8,040 (446) 16,742
At 1 April 2018 RZZ—)ENA - 5072 6,905 (192) (3,537) 8,040 (446) 16,742
Exchange adjustments T A (376) 67 12 222 - - (75)
Charged/(credited) to profit orloss 4R bk / (5HA) (123) (190) 81) (218) 15 - (597)
Charged to reserves 3= il - - = = = 446 446
At 31 March 2019 RoZ-NEZA=T—H 5473 6,782 (261) (3539) 8,055 - 16,516
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position (i) 375 Y 5k 0 7 Y e
2019 2018
e Sy K2 ZE— 4
$°000 $000
T Tz
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the TE 55 G BATS IR 3R A R Y
consolidated statement of financial position % S B TE 7 I - ©@71)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the TE 55 G BATS IR 25 Al 52 Y
consolidated statement of financial position TEAERL A A BT E 16,516 17,013
16,516 16,742
100 YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED LR &4 R A #
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE-T-NF=A=+—ALFE LUETE)

23. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(u),

the Group has not recognised deferred

tax assets in respect of

cumulative tax losses of $15,531,000 (2018: $10,179,000) and
other deductible temporary differences of $14,448,000 (2018:
$16,660,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the temporary differences can be utilised will be available in

the relevant tax jurisdiction of the entities.

Tax losses amounting to

$5,316,000 (2018: $5,135,000) do not expire under the relevant
current tax legislation, while the remaining tax losses amounting to
$10,215,000 (2018: $4,864,000) incurred by the PRC subsidiaries
will expire before 2024, in five years after they are incurred.

23.

AR W B 9B 4 B W

MR8 R B EEA (U B R BRSE  AR HE EY
ot As T M E A B R AT IR 0 ks R AR A
B 11 3% %iE Bl JE G 4 #015,531,00000 (-
E— VU 1 10,179,0007) K H Ath 7] 3
0¥ I 25 14,448,000 (& — /N4 ¢
16,660,00070) - & 76 AH B B 8 2 Bl %
AIVEREIE M 5 o Al BEE) A B 2 D
5 85 A 7R 1 SR B s A 2 ] BB M AR AR o AR
HBBATRE R R MOBEEERS
3£5,316,00000 (=% — /L4 1 5,135,000
J6) o T AR A R R N R EE AR B
BG4 3£10,215,00070 (=& — J\4E -
4,864,00070) % i 5% s 48 7 AR AR H AR
W T T AR T R .

24. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS 24 MR8 &30 ...

2019 2018

e Sy S —ER

$°000 $°000

T Tt

At the beginning of the year i l] 22,728 20,407
Exchange adjustments [iE b, 3% (1,277) 1,973
Provision made (note 4(b)) NS (K t4b) 2,293 1,251

Payments during the year GRNER T (246) (903)

At the end of the year AR A 23,498 22,728

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to employees who have completed at least five years
of service with the Group. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced by
entittements accrued under the retirement schemes of the Group
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.

Under the PRC Labour Contract Law, the Group is obliged to

make lump sum payments on cessation

of employment in certain

circumstances to employees. The amount payable is dependent on
the employees’ final salary and years of service.

The Group does not set aside any assets to fund the above

remaining obligations.

AR A s CR B 1)) - AR 28 A B AE 1l il
B4R E I TAF B LT TR T8 0L 4% 1k
32 9 AR B AT — S5 B BB o BT SO
SRR RAR R B B0 #8  J IR B AR B
i SE > AT BR IR B AR A 42 AR AR B R
wlHE 4 P A 42 P A 2 R .

RBCH BB SR - AEEATEM
TEA 1% UL T 45 1k 2 1 B0 R B AT i — 2t
M &8 o BT SIS IR IR R B 1 iR
i M MR s A O E

7 4 TSI 0 456 A R DA ME AT b ot R
AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes

25. JBe A ~ il 5 B Jbe B

(a) 5 AL 8 By 2 52 W)

A B [ A B 2 4% AR BT 03 1Y) 41 0 BT R
MBEIREN A SR EB R - AN FHE
2 AR A AL SE R 3 A A ) % AR A 2 SR B R AR

in the Company’s individual components of equity between the mr
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
Investment  Investment Land and
revaluation  revaluation buildings
Share reserve reserve  revaluation Hedging Retained
capital (recycling)  (non-recycling) reserve reserve profits Total
%
HfR LUT | VT 5
ek (WEE)  CRWER) TG HEE RN it
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
it Tr T 7z Tr Tr T T
Balance at 1 April 2017 e ST
. WACnekk C . S R D .
Changes in equity for the year: A% IEHREH :
Proft for the year AR - - - - - 28,800 28,800
Other comprehensive income Kt 2w - (1,370 - - (945) - (2,315)
Total comprehensive income KBTS H
B S CL S o L O
Dividends approved in respect R RERR
_Ottepeiosyer LRRARE %00 S S S S S 8 (0T
Balance at 31 March 2018 RZZ-MEZJ
SR 208418 (1,084) - 41762 (1,008) 737,044 985,154
Balance at 31 March 2018 BB\
Y E:P4 13 208,418 (1,084) - 41,762 (1,006) 787,044 985,154
Impact on intal appiication B BB Gt
of HKFRS 9 L P e - 1,064 13,429 - - - 14,493
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018~ =%~ \ENA—H
B EROR . R R (COR .
Changes in equity for the year: A4S iR % -
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - (5,250) (5,250)
Other comprehensive income Hib 2wl = = 1087 = 1,006 = 2,043
Total comprehensive income AEEATIGE A8
B R SN e U B0 _
Divicends approved in respect R o
_ofthepeviousyear . LRENRE 00 S S S T S 24810 24810
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZZ-WE=N
ES P41 ] 208,418 - 14,466 44,762 - 706,984 971,630

Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially applied HKFRS 15
and HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen,
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

102

Mt AL AIEARE - DR ZF— FEIH
— H YR T A T i E RSB A
T IS o T S QR o R4 BT 8 45 G R 3 Uy
% WRERATES - Z2HHE1C) -

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA 5]

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 # %k



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25. JBe AR ~ i B B B ()
....... (oMU e e
(b) Dividends (b) JBA
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable (i) MEN AR L ] Je A e B
to the year
2019 2018
e Sy (2 —E— )\
$°000 $000
T TIo
Final dividend proposed after the end of the G H R R IR EER
reporting period of $0.12 (2018: $0.12) J1& 5 13 28 0. 128
per ordinary share (=F—/\4F 1 0.127T) 24,810 24,810
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has TS H % R TR BN R IR R N 4
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period. HOHMER AR -
(ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to i) MEAF R Al R HEH A A g L — Y B A
the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year JE 5 56 A AF JE o e 3L AT 1 B
2019 2018
e Sy K2 —E— 4
$°000 $000
T T7T
Final dividend in respect of the previous financial J& it I — BA B > i
year, approved and paid AR ARG E R ST R
during the year of $0.12 (2018: $0.10) Ji L g i 5 48 0. 1200
per ordinary share (Z%F—/\4F £ 0.100T) 24,810 20,675
(c) Issued share capital (c) CEEATIBEA
2019 2018
it 25 3 T \4E
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
Bty ¥ H £ ¥ g 4= B
’000 $°000 000 $’000
T i T T7C
Ordinary shares, issued A% 794
and fully paid: [BE 983 08
At the beginning and TAAER) K AT 4
the end of the year 206,748 208,418 206,748 208,418
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies AR T e N FME ) 55 1 3546 > AN ] Y
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par TSI Y A 2w (E o
value.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as W R B A RE RO R E R R
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share A H A HEAE AN R R K & % IR i —
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with SR LG ) 2 B B o JT AT R R AR AR A
regard to the Company’s residual assets. TG L= EZRER o
YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED E i1 &4 A 7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_Z-NE=ZA=1+-—BILEE (X&)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25, JBeAS ~ il i e e B (%)

....... (oMU e e
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (d) fili fl 09 PEE B &

(i) Exchange reserve (i) BES i g

(ii)

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(x).

Investment revaluation reserve (recycling)

Prior to 1 April 2018, this reserve included the cumulative net
change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets held at
the end of the reporting period in accordance with HKAS 39. This
amount has been reclassified to investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 9 at 1 April 2018
(see note 1(c)(a)).

(iti) Investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)

(iv)

v)

i)

The investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments
designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see note 1(f)).

The investment revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to
equity shareholders of the Company.

Land and buildings revaluation reserve

The land and buildings revaluation reserve has been set up and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for land
and buildings set out in note 1j).

The land and buildings revaluation reserve is not available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used
in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition of the hedged
cash flow in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
cash flow hedges in note 1(h).

Other reserve

Other reserve represents a statutory reserve fund. According to the
articles of association of the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC,
the subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their net
profit, as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations applicable to enterprises with foreign investment,
to the statutory reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of a dividend.

ME St foft #6045 TR 46 30 7 o 5 O 36 2 I 5
R A A 2 B A R S 2 RH o W% AR A T R
A8 B R 1 () B 6 2 & R UK BE B -

(ii) & & T A oy (o) 4 e])

o \EWNH—HAT > WIEEEEs
M S 305%  Mb it AL AE A S B RE A
(1 T 416 B A R E Y A T 1B (B 2 R B
TR o I EE R E - ENA —HH
TR E ) B s S ks YA ) 55 Q9% IR I 4 25
BHRGFIAGRM ORI EE) (2B 5k (o)
(a))

(iii) &5 At 7 (4 7 1)

AR A s B A R R SR O 0% o S E A ok
fid OR AT []) 645 7 i B 5 A 19 15 %
375 8 HL At 4 TG WA 4 4% 23 1 8 (6 HR A9 JBCRE
i 1 0 R R B AR (BB EE () e

BB AL A A AT O IR T AR B £
NG

(iv) - b B #5235 6ol

/N NS v o DR Al R R I K
AR - b % M BT R O B R ) B R
SR i P o

A T A A RS AT BN IR T A A R
MEHEREA N -

(v) Bttt

3 o {45 B 5 TR S B 4z R B b 1 ) b
THZERERS R EE RG2S
1M 5% B <5 UL R 3 o A A A AR AR R O B R
1) B4 U i ) & RO T RERR o

(vi) F A1t ff

U A 5 44 2% 3 o ol 2 o AR DR AS AR R
B B s ) 2 AL AR T AR A R B A
R 2R T 5% ) AR R T R A e P
AL R AR 2 ZE10%E
LR e H RS R E R G E
A 250% 2 1k o 1] i fif 5 B 75 AT 488 [m] 26 78
TE 73 e BB S i A s o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

25. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 25.
....... (continued) .
(e) Capital management (e)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio. For this purpose the Group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans and
borrowings) plus unaccrued proposed dividends less cash and cash
equivalents (which excluded pledged deposits). Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity, less unaccrued proposed
dividends.

During the current financial year, the Group’s strategy, which was
unchanged from the previous financial year, was to maintain the
net debt-to-adjusted-capital ratio at a reasonable level. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had outstanding interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

JBeAR ~ i i B B B (%)

A B

A SR M EE AR ) 5 A0 A ol AR AR AR
o R AR 5 978 T BELJRL By K - A A Y
B B AR B DA B A R AR
11T FIE F5 451 170 Jse SRR 3 (o] R B 1) EL At AR B A
AR A A -

AR B R AR L e A e I BB AR
> 5 R A 1R A5 K & AR DL P
7 o WG R K P AT RE A R i R IR
17T V5 B4 A IR D B R £ A R o A 4R AR
PR A P50 0L S B Y T S AR SRR A R R

A S [ 42 IR RS O R A O R AR L R
MR RKEALME R > AEEE
R 5 T R E OB AR (B B K
R Ag 30 - b I B ah R S B R B
EHEEY CREFERMEH) > KHEEAR
645 HE 2 1 BT A AL L 1 8 OF B R B UR Ik
S

TR B AR B > AR 4R ] SR RO 0 A
Z R HE R B U A A BB A LR
8 & BLK S o By AE TR BT B LR A
45 P 7T RE & 3 IR A T RBOOR A0 B S A o
P AT MRRREEA -
5T ) OB L S DU -
R-EF-NEER_F-NF=ZA=Z+—
Hoo A 2% ) B FCAT Ao B4 Ja 2 m1 29 3 4 5 B
B AE K -

AR 2N R e HAT AT B J& 2% ] 4 R AT A A1 3
) 5 AR 15 5 T R A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(a)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in other
entities. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and bank balances
and derivative financial assets is limited because the counterparties
are banks and financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the
Group does not expect any significant credit risk. The Group does
not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the end
of the reporting period, 25.0% (2018: 21.5%) and 48.9% (2018:
42.1%) of the total trade debtors and bills receivable was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively within the manufacture and sale of garments and
textiles segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount and for all new customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due between 0 to 120 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

26. W B R BE A B K A T H 2 AP
i

(a)

AEHEEEREGEREHHBEEE R
B B M AN JE B o AR B R 2R A H
b A8 A R A AR B o A 4 T
A B B e A G A R B B B 2
S s T By i ISR SRR B s

1 £8 o K&

{5 55 L B 45 35 T 07 o 72 & 20 R B TR
A A T A T M AR o AR 4R B A0 1 B R B
= 2 i DR M AR K o A 2 I D B Y B
Be SRAT &% Bk L AT AR 4 R EE 51 BUN AR R
A R o J5 i 2 5 4 AR AR R AR
|AT KN > BAEBAENFEML
ol T K5 B JEL g o A 2 I 7 8 4 I AT T L
At 16 25 BOA 4R BUR Z A5 B R 2 SR -

MR

KA EAZGE R EZ & MK
F R A R B TR 8 ik IRk B & F T
MEMATERTAENBE R > WAL
A AZ AR A %R TR B IR o A
LG R - REE R > BRI R
JEU EPE AP - 25.0% (& — U
21.5%) }48.9% (—ZF— /)\4 1 42.1%) 47
A A L S R B B AR K 5 Rk S
FHRHRREFMARRREST -

AL EE A R - EFREEENE
F R A% P AT R A5 SR Al - %%
AT Al 4R RO 0 A 1 R R JE B BT IR 9 22 3K
OBk K H TR BKEE ) > A5 B R F A
TEERL DL R K R T R RS ER B o B K
M AR #% R R FHOE 120 H R B 32
ff o — BT & > A AR ZORE TR T
i dh o

7 £ (9] (0 958 5 40 ot 0 BEL K ) A7 00
105 £ 18 09 B R RT R R SORR AR gl 1R 9B
i o F R AS 4R T Y JBE S R Ml 18 AR B Sl i
EUAFEFHBNEREXARAE
B[R B 0 — 2 o A SR R R &S
T 38 IR DL A9 i 1R 1A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors and bills receivable as at
31 March 2019:

S B AT B e  TRZAF

U (41)

1 £ BB (41)

MR % (H)

TRHEIIARR T NF=A=1—H
A S 88 T T MR K 2 A L B B
R Sl Bk

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate amount allowance

T o 1 % YR e L e 4L 358 i

% $’000 $000

At T T T

Current (not past due) R (R a i) 0% 66,757 -
Less than 61 days past due i et H 0% 7,724 =
61 to 90 days past due wiie1 H £90H 0% 3,229 -
More than 90 days past due o0 H LA | 51.5% 6,880 3,546
84,590 3,546

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Comparative information under HKAS 39

Prior to 1 April 2018, an impairment loss was recognised only when
there was objective evidence of impairment (see note 1(m)(i) — policy
applicable prior to 1 April 2018). At 31 March 2018, trade debtors
and bills receivable of $3,546,000 were determined to be impaired.
The aging analysis of trade debtors and bills receivable that were not

TE 3 M 1R A R RS4RI B R s R AR B
B MEAF LU AR By B i 4 OuE A B R A
PR DL ZE 5~ F AT AR DL B A 45 ) E Wi R
AT A S RS IR DL 2 R T B

e -
I ) 553998 19 1 I R

T N A — B AT W e R
B & B A I ERR (2 BB a1 (m) ()
— & VA A — H AT AR ECR) -
M F - NE=ZA=+—H BIEX
3,546,00070 B FEFB I MH o R A 2 W (8 1) g

considered to be impaired was as follows: W R R 2 MR Ay T an
2018
e S 2
$’000
T
Neither past due nor impaired  Bifw@Mdse 78,932
Less than 61 days past due w61 H 20,512
61 to 90 days past due w61 £90H 293
More than 90 days past due 90 H LA L 2,349
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 23,154
102,086
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(b)

26. 95 L 4 B e L 2 AP

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management including the short term investment of cash
surpluses. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s derivative financial
instruments, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ¥ {6 (%)
SCOMENUCA) s e
Credit risk (continued) (a) 1o BB (41)
Comparative information under HKAS 39 (continued) 7T Al B SE 3995 1 I B E (AT
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide BUE I 3480 30 ol il (1 2 IR i R R L AR &2 NI I AT
range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default. WISz &% F A -
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number 3 M ARSI A ek (B 2 I AR BB 2 4 M L
of independent customers that have a good track record with the FAKB #ZEXFRAEHENEELHKR
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no oo MRPEM A AR HHBRE > ZEA
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of these balances R T W A A R E R
as there had not been a significant change in credit quality and the SEW) > H &R A LR R A Bl o
balances were still considered fully recoverable.
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors AN AR SR A B T S SR A 2 T 4R A
and bills receivable during the year is as follows: ZEREE UL R
2019 2018
—R—UE TE
$°000 $000
T F
As at 1 April W AH—H 3,546 3,267
Impairment losses recognised
during the year GRONY RS RN, TEic - 279
As at 31 March B=A=+—H 3,546 3,546
Liquidity risk (b) ¥ Hh ¥ 4 M, &

AEMAZMAEEHBAATARETS
ZHEEH U eAR0ENTE -
A B2 W 2 UK 7 A U B K R B B 2
BT E > DUAEOR AR 2 A0 8L S
Feny gy ik 8 B2 b g Rk B % B RS
WA FEM R o B e R > DU AT H

TRV AEENAGESM T HREHEA
9 1 B S AT IIRR - HLET R BE R & A0 B R RG
B H &8 (B %G QR Ra 5 2 A
B s e > RN & E R R
A KA E B RHIA A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(c)

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

26. 0 05 L, W A 9 e ik T L 2 AP

i (%)

(b) ¥ B ¥ 4 BB (%)

2019 2018

e Sy % 3 —E— )4
Contractual Contractual Contractual Contractual
undiscounted undiscounted undiscounted undiscounted
cash inflow cash outflow cash inflow cash outflow
AR ERMBN S8 ERMBE G54 RN 54 ERITEDY
BRERA Beuh BEMA B4
within 1 year within 1 year within 1 year within 1 year
or on demand or on demand or on demand or on demand
RN IR AENEIRER  FRAEIRER —AEREREK
$°000 $°000 $000 $000
T T Tz T

Derivative financial ~ fif2E 4l T H

instruments 3,587 (3,531) 43,589 (45,953)

Save as the above, the Group’s financial liabilities are repayable
within one year or on demand and the contractual undiscounted
cash outflow of these financial liabilities equals their carrying values
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euros,
United States dollars (“USD”), Pounds Sterling, Hong Kong dollars
(‘HKD”) and Renminbi.

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in the USD/HKD exchange rate.
However, management acknowledges that the Group is exposed to
fluctuations in the exchange rates for other currencies.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency
risk arising from committed future sales denominated in Euro and
Pounds Sterling. The Group ceased to apply hedge accounting (see
note 1(h)) for the financial year 2019. At 31 March 2019, the Group
had forward exchange contracts with a net fair value of $56,000
(assets) (2018: $2,353,000 (liabilities)), recognised as derivative
financial instruments.

(c)

B bSO Al o - A SR B 2 G A RIS I —
AF N ERE R B R AR > K% SE A
R % b ORI B A BE 4 0 B AR B IR
UL BT R B MR T (B A ]

£ e B

AW R i 5 W R By E R B A B R
Fir ¥ e T e £ W DL S R 6 A0 W T E
BOE A5 P AR E ORI A R A &
B AR o 51 B HE b B9 B 2 K

BE o FEoU - BB TR ARW -

Hi AV T B S T R TE I K T
WECHE RN A& A HR B E - SAm > B
JE B Ay > A AR T THD S At ] E R A B 1
J B o

A 42 3 F) P 7 B0 A1 HE 4 49 385 3 IR AR T
PR A5 A R GE R R B T E A 0 B
FEBE o AS B R TF — JUAR B BAE 45 L
JRE FH S g s (A EE1(h) o i T FE— AL
E=ZH=Z+—H > REMHZ & INE S
20N E (48 £ 56,0000C (B E) (F
— /J\4F 1 2,353,0007C (£ fif)) I E #E78 A
fiEEmTA-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. W B )ﬁtﬁi HFHAREBITHZ AT

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS B (B)
....... (OO Cd) e e
(¢) Currency risk (continued) (c) LW BE (%)

TERHER-FZ-NFE=ZA=+—H
EMALBEATREBRERENZSH 2B &
UL 2 AP RE S A

The following table details the forward exchange contracts that
had been designated as cash flow hedges of the Group’s highly
probable forecast transactions at 31 March 2018:

110

2018
e VAN
Foreign Hong Kong
currency dollar
Hh i
$000 $000
FIi TL
Notional amount Y EH
— Pounds Sterling — B 1,000 10,223
— Euros — i A 3,629 33,366
2019 2018
- Sy K 2 ZE— 4
$’000 $000
T Tz
Carrying amount M T (B
— Asset - B - -
— Liability - ffi - (2,353)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. MBS LM T H2Z AT
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS A (%)

(continued)

Currency risk (continued)

(c) HW B (H)

The following table provides a reconciliation of the hedging reserve T R B S REE R B S ik A 2 SR g b
in respect of foreign currency risk and shows the effectiveness of the BAR 2 A 3

hedging relationships:

2019 2018
22— TR )\4E
$°000 $000
T Tz
Balance at 1 April A —H 2 &R (2,255) =
Effective portion of the cash flow hedge A L Ath 2 T Wi 2% e R
recognised in other comprehensive income BITRErIN E RL SR €1 964 (5,161)
Amounts reclassified to profit or loss (note (i)  EH B E B 2 &5 (K 7E0) 1,737 2,460
Related tax A [ o JEL (446) 446
Balance at 31 March (note (i) R=H =4 —H 2458 (B iti) - (2,255)
Change in fair value of the forward exchange — 4F [Ay % 1 ) B £ £ 19 28 71 (B
contracts during the year and effective portion %58 LA K 78 HiAth 2 1 i 25
of the cash flow hedge recognised in other TlE 52 14 3L 46 Ot 2 3 Y 119
comprehensive income B R 964 (5,161)
Notes: Mt
()  Amounts reclassified to profit or loss are recognised in the “Revenue” and () EHOBEEGNSENRGSHEGEEREA
“Finance cost” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (see Ko [RbE A | T8 H b e sR (2 B sEd(c) &
notes 4(c) and 4(a)). 4(a)) -
(i)  The entire balance in the hedging reserve relates to continuing hedges. (i) vl A T A R B A VA B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
T %5 A% Y o

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_ZT-NEF=A=f=BLEFE (L ETi)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26.

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Currency risk (continued) (c)
Exposure to currency risk (i)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong
dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

S 5 e gy 4 P e 4k L2 AP
i (%)

£ B (%)
R 2 10

TRV LB A B TR Z 2 B
B> w2 % B R B S R T R 2 C R
EESABUZEBREE T U BN
FEE T R o A Bl L B R 3 2 R R
A H 2 RV RE A B R 252 -

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RE IR (it
2019 218
"Rk o S
United Hong United Hong
Pounds  States Kong  Pounds States Kong

Stering ~ Dollars Euros  Renminbi
by T KR OARE
$oo0 000  So00 000
7r 7 7 T

Dollars  Sterling Dolars Euros  Renminbi Dollars
i %5 £ HE OARE o
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i 7 7 7 7 1

Trade and other receivables IR R Rl 8 53929 4307 12450 3 18 78460 1024 pli 3
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHA%EY 10 56,007 4508 2,268 560 B 5165 64 4759 560
Tradle and other payables TR LR (621)  (28,086) (904) #10) - @) a1y (1,079 18 =
Amounts cue rom{tc] group comparies  FEI,/ () £/ 7 5B 3064 12354 - B 45 10182 (267) = - 50593
Net exposure arising from RECHEALER

recogrised assets and libiltes Bt BRI 2500 o424 7O 14303 45140 9802 105614 9209 4365 5115
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD
would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in
value of the USD against other currencies.

26.

(ii)

A 0 o I Y PR R i T2 AP
e i (%)

W BB (f)
BRI

T RI R AL B BB R (% PR B
A R 455 HOBE R 2 5 BLAT AR S B (A4
R ZE s WM 5 Bl R 32 T O Ja B ) i EE A 2 B
5 ) > 3lf O IR A R At L By A A B o
PO & > A% 4R e i e B 56 OT 2 T 2R B
HAN 8 R 36 T 5 H A B W 2 BE R 2 AE ] A
BB E R -

2019 2018

e 25 [ ZE— )\
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit (decrease) in profit
in foreign after tax in foreign after tax
exchange and retained exchange and retained
rates profits rates profits
B BL A% i A R B 4% i A1
BE & Bk ik A e % B AR B8 i A
L7t/ (F#%) ¥/ (W) EF R wahn, ()
% $000 % $000
Wi T EEadiA TC
Pounds Sterling Yugh 10% 211 10% 818
(10)% (211) (10)% (818)
Euros i 4t 10% 661 10% 769
(10)% (661) (10% (769)
Renminbi N 8% 955 8% 292
(8)% (955) 8)% (292)
Hong Kong Dollars I 8% 2,708 8% 3,069
(8)% (2,708) 8)% (3,069)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and
receivables within the Group which are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2018.

£ R BNIR o M 2 45 RACR B A £ B R
A % 25 T 0 e B W R I R R &5 F
< ME A T W 5T DL 3t 2 50 22 Y BR B AR
i P B ME 4 2 BV I R 4 AR o

TR E 23 A )7 fi % HEE 4 58 Bl R P % Al AR
B B A 45 B B A S T 3 A1 L B O < Rl
TH o G E A5 1 R AR 4 W [ AR i IH
JE SRR I > % S CHE DA O BB O 9 T e
BN B W EHE o Z 0 A BLEE iR Ak
SEHE B S B R R A 4R [ B R R P
BHMER - Zof I U T — /N EZM
] 5 HEAEAT o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from certain
equity investments held for long-term strategic purposes measured
at FVOCI (see note 16).

The Group’s listed equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer term growth potential and are monitored regularly
for performance against expectations. They are listed on overseas
stock exchanges and are valued at the quoted market prices at the
end of each reporting period.

One of the Group’s unlisted equity investments is measured
at market comparison approach with reference to the market
capitalisation of comparable listed companies. It is assessed at
least bi-annually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together with an
assessment of its relevance to the Group’s long-term strategic
plans.

26.

W BB A P R i R 2 AP
i i (%1)

A £ 7R 32 35 T2 H A 2 T i A % F
HAE A MR & 2 F5 1F = 00 R s Pk 35 A 1
e W s 2 5 2 M A B R B (2 PR MY R
16) -

A G B 2 b RE RS R BB R R R
BRI E > i E ) B g H R B
EEM RSO o BRSNS SRS 5 B £
o SRR AR RS WA A .

A G — b R R B 2 T 4%
W5 Gk a3 2 5 A L b A A
YT o HR BLAT A 2= D — ST Wk
TR ML LT KRB AL A
At B 2 T A 65 AR 4R B 9 R 0 R s A
B A MK -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_T-NEF=A=1T—RLFE (LETi)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

At 31 March 2019, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of
10% (2018: 10%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments), the market capitalisation of comparable listed
companies (for the unlisted equity security measured at market
comparison approach), with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s other components of
consolidated equity as follows:

26.

S 5 o, e 4 B e 4k T L 2 A OF
U (41)

JB A5 o Bt (#8)

W E jLE H=4—H8 > (B H s
BMERE RS > A BT ( EALFE
i #f&tf& EEE I, W A10% (ZF
— \AF 0 10%) > A e #g b A ® T E
(s e i 8 Lo i 51 &2 09 3k b i I 7
%) o fEEHE RN, D AS 5 0 A A R 2
HoMl A B N

2019 2018
—2—Jug RN
Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) increase
in other in other
components components
of equity of equity
BE2 oAb T i At
HBH M
Bm,/ (W5 ) W)/ m
% $°000 % $000
HA Ml T B TIC
Change in relevant  #1 B (15 B B
equity price risk Y2 ET -
variable:
Increase o 10% 1,101 10% 258
Decrease B (10)% (1,101) (10% (258)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in other
components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming
that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or other relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant.

R 7 B B > RS T A B S )
FoAtAR B EL B S B H O RAHHE
B W EHE R E R E AL B RRA 2
ST H MiZ% THASAEBNLHEA
JEUR 3 W A8 JEL gy > S A SR B 2 AR A HE R Y
ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁiiﬁfh‘ﬂ%*ﬁtﬁiz LSS & XWIN

B A RO HE R O 0 O B (E R AR BB
@Eﬁﬁ?aﬁiﬁ@*ﬁ%ﬁﬂFuZ%{@JZﬁﬂi
HEEL BRI AR T AR ) o HLH A A AR R R A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% ¥R 2 B =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NAF=A=ft-RBIEE 8T

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26. %i% Pl B 4% B B 4k T H 2 AP

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS fH (%)
....... (COMEMUCA) e e
(e) Fair value measurement (e) 2 F-fEqhvt it
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) A TEMEGENE R TR
Fair value hierarchy 2 TAE (B %
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial T 3R G A 4R AR M i 5 B R AT
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a EEFR S/ TH > WRECGES M #R
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy R A8 T AP EEF & T R n
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. I FAEAE T8 S5 B 5 =R AR -
Fair value at Fair value measurements as at Fair value at Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2019 31 March 2019 categorised into 31 March 2018 31 March 2018 categorised into
RZZ-E REE-NE
ZREA-H REF-WEZH=A—H ZH=1-H REE-AFZR=4-H
ZATHIM PRl vE LYY b ZATRE AFEEHENRALTRA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B8N BSHN O SEHN o I et 4 B = 4]
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i i i I 7z I 7z
Recuring farr valie measurements & # 1A T (712
Assets: i
- Non-trading isted equty - F 5 bR
securiies Bk 3,105 3105 - = 3,756 3,756 S 5
- Unlisted equity securities - F LR 16,906 - - 16,906 = - - -
- Derivative financial instruments - i 2R L1 56 - 56 - - - - -
Liabiltes: il
- Derivative financial instruments - ik &M T2 - - - - 2,359) - (2,359) =
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, there were no BE-FX-NFERF—-NF=ZH=Z+—
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into or out of H k4 B > 6 3% 4T 4l B 78 28 — & 1
Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels BRLAE AR 2 AR RS ~ 3O A8 =
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which AR o AR BRSO TEE
they occur. SR B A R N A5 A H T DAERR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 26.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

....... (continued) s s

(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued) (i)

Valuation technique and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts in Level 2 is
marked to market by discounting the contractual forward price and
deducting the forward rate at the end of the reporting period. The
discount rate used is derived from the prevailing market interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

S B A B e S LR Z AP
B4 (50

A U i (80

e 487 U1 2 T AL ()

RT3 2518 (H 71 2 09 14 (6 %
VYR €

A A 2 PR A (58 =800 TG B
B RUE BB IR EE B AR BT IR
WIMER - REBIRT) 2 MR 455 A BT 85
M 2R i E

=P LB 7T 7 B

Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range
i 48 05 R HOR A o B bR i I3
Unlisted equity securities FE b 7 B R Adjusted net Discount for lack of 30%
asset value marketability
MPPREEFE 2 HIGRE TR
Minority discount 30%
DR AT
Market-comparable Discount for lack 30%

approach
T 35 Lk

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined using:
(i) the net assets value adjusted for lack of marketability discount
and minority discount; (ii) the price/earnings and enterprise value/
EBITDA ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of
marketability discount. The fair value is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability and minority discount.

of marketability
o 2 T35 a3

I b i B R R A P B DA ()R B =
T 5 30 48 P B 0 2R R D BOHE 25 A7 40 R g
YRR (DA B BT A R A E A
W 35 A0 1 2B EBITDA L 2306 7 #& b =
WS E IR E - AT EESERS
T 35 30 488 P B 10 3 R D BORE 25 47 40 o R
] A B B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, it is estimated that an increase/decrease
of 5% in each of the unobservable inputs, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s other
comprehensive income as follows:

(e) A F Bt Bt (4)
(i) %A T T 50 £ i T (A7)

TR LT A A ()

RoFE—NE=ZH=+—H > HsIU &
TE AR ] B g P 4 5% 5 A B
BICPR HE R BE  i BAS 4R [ L th 4 T A £ Y
/SR

Increase/
(decrease) in Effect on other
unobservable comprehensive
inputs income
PR 2:3°¢ 3 JC b 2 i
Bm/ (9 A) B2 5
% $'000
EYidA T
Discount for lack of marketability B = T 5 T R 5 (1,208)
) 1,208
Minority discount D B 25 B 4R 5 (465)
) 465

The movements during the period in the balance of these Level 3 fair

595 = 9 0 R A A B 9 5 D

value measurements are as follows: o
$'000
i

Unlisted equity securities: I b R 2 -

At 1 April 2018 W FE— \NFHH—H 855
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 T YR BR AN A S BTG5 i R T SR 05T 1Y 5 2 14,493
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2018 T — A H — H #5152 &5k 15,348

Net unrealised gains recognised in other LUINE S SN T ETRE X (E)
comprehensive income during the period oAt 4 T i 25 v HERR 1,558
At 31 March 2019 No_E-NFE=ZA=+—H 16,906

From 1 April 2018, any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement
of the Group’s unlisted equity securities held for strategic purposes
are recognised in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling)
in other comprehensive income. Upon disposal of the equity
securities, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
is transferred directly to retained earnings. Prior to 1 April 2018,
any gains arising from the disposal of the unlisted equity securities
were presented in the “Other income” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

HoZF— \FENH — i AL MR EER
W Ak B JE b T BORE RE R < N R B R AR
Z AT A i i 5 TR A e T o 2 B
fili 5 A A AT B[] ) op e GR o AR ol B AR
A IR AR o Al A T W AR 2 R R R
HEEEREEAN o R T - \EMNA—H
A o IR b TR RS S AR AT AT i
WG EE R H b 25 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 7% 3R 2 MY =F

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  26. % M B4V 8L ) £k T H 2 AF
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1 (&)
....... (oMt ed) e
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) 2 T-FUfisE & (4)
(ii) Fair value of financial instruments carried at other than fair value (ii) IRV IR & T2 21
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried AEBER _E-NFR _-F—NEZ]A
at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from their fair = B DL B AR B AR B A B R A 4
values as at 31 March 2019 and 2018. TR 27 B T BRI P (I I iR 22 5 o
27. COMMITMENTS o, 2RI
(@) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2019 not provided (a) A_F—NWE=A=+—H0 R ELL
for in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: B R AE A 2 B ARSI R
2019 2018
e Sy 2 TR N4
$°000 $°000
T Tz
The Group’s capital commitments: RIE [ 1) F AR
Contracted for [EES] 562 428
Authorised but not contracted for EAZHEH R ET A 77,323 -
77,885 428
The Group'’s share of the capital AL 3] S
commitments of joint ventures: ER-gEYi0h-& -t/
Contracted for BERT4Y 188,052 6,853
(o) At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments in  (b) W - F—ILE=H=+—H > WIFEAL A

respect of properties under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

Breo 8T & 270 AR 0 B R 36
L AT AT

2019 2018

—R—JUE ZE—)\E

$°000 $'000

T T T

Within 1 year —4ELLA 2,344 1,693
After 1 year but within 2 years —HEREWELIA 56 773
After 2 years but within 5 years AR A HAE LA = 63
2,400 2,629

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period
of one to ten years, with an option to renew the lease upon expiry
when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

A 45 B BOUE 1% A8 LB R A I W K
A - BEEE B AN —2+4
A BA R R AR EEEET A
BB BB E - IrAAE&#I A
HRAMHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 ¥ 5% By =

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28. BN LZHEARKR Y
....... TR AN S A T O S o eeeeeeeeeeeee e
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere Wk 5 A% B 5 ik 2% L Ath 3y P Bk BR 2 38 5 I
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following FEERAN s AREEF L N E KB E AL
material related party transactions: VE
(a) Transactions with YGM Trading Limited and its subsidiaries (a) BYGMHE A WA & K HK)EA A
(“YGMT Group”) (TYGMTH: M 1) Z 3 5
2019 2018
e Sy K2 e VAN S
$°000 $°000
T T
Sales of garment products S AR 7 16,241 19,757
Rental income received and receivable L Wi K M i ) 26 A0 4 it £ 6,009 7,429
Management fee received and receivable WS B R i S 804 804
Building management fee received and receivable . Wit b M i 18 245 H1L 2% 180 261
Note: Mzt -
As certain directors and their associates are collectively the controlling BT R L 2 B F R A YGMTAE ] & A
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of YGMT Group and the Group, the SEE PR e A LT BLAD o AR PR AL A
related party transactions in respect of sales of garment products to YGMT Group EA14AAT > DL F I YGMTEE B8 8 B & 5 - B
and rental income received and receivable from YGMT Group above constitute K BYGMTAE B HH 4 0 %5 2 B 98 N 1 28 5 i
the connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Other B A Sy o BLYGMTEE B 2 H b 58 &) £y 7 5 e A J8
transactions with YGMT Group are exempt from the disclosure requirements AR E TR RIS 4ATE 2 BLE T LABE 8% o LT BLAY
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A SEAAATE T B AE 1 Bl 7% o TR B e R TR
of the Listing Rules are provided in the section “Connected transactions” in the 385 | — i e

Directors’ Report.

(b) Transactions with other related parties (b) HALBWHEALZRG
2019 2018
—2—N4E —F— )\
$°000 $°000
T i
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. J0e 853 5% YOS % 85 AT IR A )
Purchases of raw materials (=g 7,070 9,323
Note: Mt it -
Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wuxi No. 1 Cotton GBI S ERAT BAEEHZ 580 ER
Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the Group. The purchases of raw materials B EARAF ZEEHANEAF - ff—4&
from a joint venture are not connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the A I ORI S JE R T R R SR 1 AAEE BT )
Listing Rules. ZBER Y -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

28. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 28.

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

B g N L2 KRR S (8)

(c) Balances due from/(to) related companies and joint ventures: (c) MEWC (MEAH) B Ai A& KA B AFEKHE :
2019 2018
e Sy 2 ZE— )\
Note $’000 $’000
B 7t F FIT
Amount due from YGMT Group JEE WY GMT 42 8 3 T 1,991 814
Amount due to WTCO7 Holdings JEAFWTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd.
Pte Ltd. A () (198) (355)
Amount due to Allied Textiles JARE AT 5B e L 45 4k A R > ) 3KTH
Co., Ltd. (ii) (13) (13)
Amount due to Wuxi YGM Textile JREAS) 4 £ = VIS 4% 45 4k
Co., Ltd. A IR /) #IH (i) (635) =
Notes: Mt i

0] WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. is related to the Group as it is held by a director
of the Group.

(i) Allied Textiles Co., Ltd. and Wuxi YGM Textile Co., Ltd. are wholly owned
subsidiaries of Wuxi No.1 Cotton Investment Co., Ltd., a joint venture of the
Group.

(d) Transactions with key management personnel (d)

All members of key management personnel are the directors of the
Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 6.

29. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 29.

ESTIMATES

The Group believes the following critical accounting policies
involve the most significant judgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Write-down of inventories (a)

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses, projections
of expected future saleability of goods and, management experience
and judgment. Based on this review, a write-down of inventories
will be made when the estimated net realisable value of inventories
decline below their carrying amount. Due to changes in customers’
preferences, actual saleability of goods may be different from
estimations and profit or loss in future accounting periods could be
affected by differences in these estimations. The write-down and
reversal of write-down of inventories are disclosed in note 17.

()  WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. Hi A< £ [ — {i # 3
HEA o NIL > WTCO7 Holdings Pte Ltd. /s A&
L BE AT o

(il) e L A7 A A R W) M 2 8 4= VNS A Ak
AR RAEMZ G EMCEEY MLEH
PR Rz 2 oA KB A R -

HEHEEMARMEY

A EREHMABYBAAAFRZES > &
5 5 2 B ARG 5F -

1wt A B A it

A G AR A5 7E A AR MBS RIS > DLR
Jov 45 Y B T B B O % b A B
At o

A7 1T 30

A2 H I BRI M TR EY
S B B0 T B B AR 9 A B Y AR B B B ok
BHA7 B0 R T (B AR 2 AR o A B
fil w7 5 B (8 Bk 2 AR AR T (E - A
8 T B AR R A B A0 A R T A B M
H-BREFNEFIRELEH - TH
B Wy 6 5 W] R BRLAS BT A9 OR IR o TR UL S A
R[] A BE R R A & RE I I AY 1R 45
e 88 WIS A7 B OB 48 [ A R R 7 PR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z-NF=A=f-BIFECETH)

29.

(c)

(@)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Impairment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the assets at the
end of each reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. When indication of impairment
is identified, management assesses the differences between the
carrying amounts and recoverable amounts and makes provision
for impairment loss. Any change in the assumptions adopted in
calculating the recoverable amount would increase or decrease the
provision for impairment loss and affect the Group’s profit or loss in
future years.

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade debtors and bills
receivable by assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of estimates
and judgements. ECLs are based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of reporting period. Where the
estimation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will affect the carrying amounts of accounts receivable and bills
receivable and thus the impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate is changed. The Group keeps assessing the expected
credit loss of trade debtors and bills receivable during their expected
lives.

Valuation of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties requires various assumptions
and factors relevant to the valuation. The Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers to conduct an annual
revaluation of the Group’s investment properties based on
assumptions agreed between the Group and the valuers prior to
adoption. The details of valuation of investment properties are
disclosed in note 11(b).

Provision for long service payments

As explained in note 24, the Group makes provision for lump sum
payments on cessation of employment in certain circumstances to
employees in both Hong Kong and the PRC. The payments due are
dependent on future events and recent payment experience may
not be indicative of future payments. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect the profit or loss in future years. The details of
long service payments are disclosed in note 24.

. IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING

At 31 March 2019, the directors consider the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment
Corporation Ltd, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

29.

(c)

(d)

1wk A B B Al wt (4

AEBMRE - HEHE A EENEEZIRE
> LARERBA FBEBEUR EEd B
AE o U B B e S > A L ST
e T SAL AT o (] < BE 2 TR RO 22 > R AR
9301 s 1 JBE A o wH B R R[] B R BT AR T 2
B AT AT Aoy 5 B > 9 I D A
I IR B R AR 2 R4 -

7 B2 B (8 A R AN K B o 0 A AT A TS
B 18 I At B B WA BR R S i SR 4 e 1R
fi o MR SRR AL E 215 8
AR > WARTRGH A A 2 R LT
JHEE > DS TR HOE B A M TE B R
S A IR DL AE AT FF Al o g T OB B I o
fEFEA TR - A B 22 BN R 2B I SR K I g
W SR 2 BRTHE - T R 2R A WA B
il 2 BB IR 2R « A% 28 18 % TR A W9 1] i
5 2 T A B SR B B B S 2 T
Bk -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 7% R 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE-F-NF=A=T—ALFE LOETH)

31. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

31. 2 v g i =2 W B UL %

....... BN AN G AL PO S T ON o e
2019 2018
—E N — T )\
Note $’000 $’000
Bt it S Fr
Non-current assets BTN §A
Investment properties wEy ¥ 282,200 277,545
Other property, plant and equipment H AW ZE - W7 Bk 90,288 95,640
372,488 373,185
Intangible assets T B = 2,985 3,080
Investments in subsidiaries R Jeg 2 R 4% 77,899 80,703
Interests in joint ventures SEEEES 230,818 230,818
Other financial assets Hopth 4 il & = 20,011 4,611
704,201 692,397
Current assets W A
Inventories T8 25,875 27,207
Trade and other receivables 18 L8 R R L At I W 63,213 105,348
Current tax recoverable AT Wi 1] A HA B IE 347 131
Cash and cash equivalents e B &5 EY 234,696 217,526
e 824131 350212
Current liabilities b RER
Trade and other payables JREAST B 3 S H Al R A5 3k 37,451 39,768
Contract liabilities GRIANE 1,954 -
VU UUUUTUUUUTUUUU 39405 ¢ 39,768
Netcurrentassets ... ... Wi@hw#se 284,726 ....310444
Total assets less current liabilities W AMBMBEH Al 988,927 1,002,841
Non-current liabilities JEU B A A5
Provision for long service payments T2 RS 4 18 A 2,088 1,825
Deferred tax liabilities % S TH A i 15,209 15,862
OO 17,297 17,687 _
NET ASSETS ¥ g i 971,630 985,154
CAPITAL AND RESERVES A B il il 25(a)
Share capital & 208,418 208,418
Reserves G 763,212 776,736
TOTAL EQUITY HE 23 B 971,630 985,154

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24

June 2019.

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chairman

Chan Wing Kee
Managing Director

FEHRGOR F—AEANA A

LS EBIRE -

Btk % Bk L
EY HHAEI
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% 3R R B

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HE-2-NF=A={ = BIEEE GOETE)

32,

33.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1
April 2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in
accounting policies are disclosed in note 1(c).

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2019 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

32.

33.

W B

AEEOR -F - NFENH—HEKEH
A B 5 i v T B 1 5 5% B A U B
HEHSEOGR - ARIEITIHE WP Tk > K
ERATEY - A s BOR ) 2 —
A W AE R B EE (o) DR -

BREZFZ-UHE=ZA=1T—HIk
A B O A4l 1 0 R A BBy i T
o 0 R i R T R R R 0 5 0

HEAMBRERZEZA > FEFFML
gUHfin TRE_F-NF=ZA=1—
EINISEC Y A i N o UK - N T | D
B o A BB R G OR A BRI A o Hoh
AR AL ERITR

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on B S at 250
or after SR
HKFRS 16, Leases Bk IR RS R 6%E - A 1 January 2019 —EF—fLE—~A—H
HK(FRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments itk (BIR B 2 B B &) 1 January 2019 —EF—fLE—~A—H
R34 B EH AT T
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle BRI # i | —F—T4E % 1 January 2019 “E—JUE—H—H
SR LA 2 A G
Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term interest in B EEHiE e (B3] - 1 January 2019 —EF—fLE—~A—H

associates and joint ventures

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the
Group has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements except
HKFRS 16. Further details of the expected impacts are discussed
below.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee
of leases for properties, plant and equipment which are currently
classified as operating leases. The application of the new accounting
model is to account for all leases in a similar way to current finance
lease accounting. Therefore it is expected to lead to an increase in
both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the
lease.

REELAREEL AR ER

A G5 J I 7E 3T A 00 46 1B T 00 ] % S5 B T
T R R R A T R o BIWRASR A
A G M BRANAR o BR T I S i Y TSR
165840 > B WS R T RSB .
A B TE W B — 2 R R R St -

U B R E I SEA6RE I E R BA
4 A 2 FH B R RN st B IR 20 0 AL A
B Y - B Rty < G Rt i BT % -
BROAH & R > A LR B9 ARG B
LA AR B B R B O IR A -
g wh RO B BUR E K AR A BT
T K5 AR T 0 A 4R A 3R A AR R B S
HY IR [H] o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F %5 3 2= MY &

For the year ended 3| March 2019 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—RIFE CUET)

33. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 (continued)

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective approach
for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 April 2019. As disclosed in note 27, at 31 March 2019
the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases amount to $2,400,000 for properties, certain of
which will be renewed in the coming year. Upon the initial adoption
of HKFRS 16, the opening balances of lease liabilities and the
corresponding right-of-use assets will be adjusted, after taking
account the effects of discounting, as at 1 April 2019. The Group
will need to perform a more detailed analysis to determine the
amounts of new assets and liabilities arising from operating lease
commitments on adoption of HKFRS 16, after taking into account
the applicability of the practical expedient and adjusting for any
leases entered into or terminated between now and the adoption of
HKFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.

—WHE=ZA=1—HI
o ﬁi*&a&ﬁ@ﬂ%"]
at BE W A R Y 5

B
-F%)?%Hﬂ
(el
%%%
ib%

A4 [ A O 08 o2 A8 W 2 R A
Tk IS S HE R S5 1658 - MERR T IR IR
MBI RS B F - LENHA — B
A5 R AE R o R EE27 AR R > R
F—NE=ZH=+—H > AREHKATH
B 40 R0 5 TR ) 3 E A ) R 2 B A 8
T3 £2,400,00070 » H b T 260 e 2k
AEAE I o TE UK PR AN T S IV A e B A
1698 > A E R T —JLFEMA —HE
FEAPTBLE 2 A KA
FE 1) &5 B o AS S AT AT RE R O ik 08 T
P it B TRE BB 40 A s A S S ME ISR 6
SR B RT o sA 1k AT T A A B
AR A AT BEE &
149 43 BT LA e ZE PR 4% B s I % i e HI SR 1 6
% IRy 48 A5 R RS BT A RO B E I B
) 4 %8 -

TEL U B 5 A Y ) 5 1 6 5% AN B K Y B
Hh AL AR 9 L A4 50 O S RN R RS A IR
i e
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GROUP PROPERTIES

% 8 ¥

Details of the major properties of the Group are as follows: AR EEYEERFEFMT

Location % Existing use W& Term of lease  RIE4EM
Major properties held for investment

g EHEZ T EY X

The whole building i Commercial [HES Medium-term T A 4
22 - 24 Tai Yau Street JUHE B i faf

San Po Kong, Kowloon KA 22 - 24%F

Hong Kong 4 i

Unit 1505 — 1508 on level 15 Lk YN i Commercial [EES Medium-term T
Fudan Science Park Tower (Block 11) VB T LR

No. 11 Guotai Road I %% 11 5%

Yangpu District, Shanghai City (CEER RS A DN

The People’s Republic of China

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED RATHRKABA 5]
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

FFEHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(KT FT)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“E-HE ZF-RE ZF-bE ZF-NE ZZ-E
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T F FI T FI
Results ¥4
Revenue A 1,133,864 938,434 800,343 749,280 717,614
Profit from operations A A 7,666 23,305 12,563 17,096 16,259
Finance costs il A (3,671) (3,002) (2,719) (2,559) (3,506)
Share of losses of associates JRE A A ) s 4 (355) = = = =
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures JEAL &% 4 (B 4R) /i A (20,356) (28,391) 11,497 14,967 12,007
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary Fikchd 1) NG V€ = = 12,838 = =
Impairment loss on plant and equipment R T A s 1 - (4,656) (12,304) (4,758) (5,170)
Net valuation gains on investment properties 1% % 4) 3 ff fi ik £5 1 4 6,964 20,759 12,369 17,545 3,361
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT (540 /i A (9,752) 8,015 34,244 42,297 22,951
Income tax Fi 3B (13,856) (3,658) (6,259) (7,254) (2,650)
(Loss)/profit for the year AR (BB (23,608) 4,357 27,985 35,043 20,301
Attributable to: HE 488 5 %
Equity shareholders of the Company A A RREREA A (23,241) 4,413 30,380 36,558 22,062
Non-controlling interests T FE I It R £ (367) (56) (2,395) (1,515) (1,761)
(Loss)/profit for the year A OB, (23,608) 4,357 27,985 35,043 20,301
Assets and liabilities 5 R AR
Investment properties, other property, HEME - Hbmk -
plant and equipment and leasehold land LG E PN e 310,387 317,370 287,078 300,217 298,292
Intangible assets 314 Y 3,117 3,270 3,175 3,080 2,985
Interests in associates T w R 4R = = = = -
Interests in joint ventures ERgnE L N 600,683 541,095 513,385 571,043 546,154
Other financial assets HoAh 4 7,052 4,250 5,731 4,611 20,011
Deferred tax assets B AL IH 1,501 1,687 1,754 271 -
Net current assets TE A 375,093 388,952 396,945 409,486 387,317
Total assets less current liabilities AEAEBADER 1,207,833 1,256,624 1,208,068 1,288,708 1,254,759
Non-current liabilities FRRE A (37,992) (38,965) (35,616) (39,741) (40,014)
Net assets T 1,259,841 1,217,659 1,172,452 1,248,967 1,214,745
Share capital A 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418 208,418
Reserves i) 1,044,243 1,002,557 961,162 1,039,310 1,008,228
Total equity attributable to equity 8 B A 2 ) M
shareholders of the Company R HE 5 A 1,252,661 1,210,975 1,169,580 1,247,728 1,216,646
Non-controlling interests I 2 J P R £ 7,180 6,684 2,872 1,239 (1,901)
Total equity HE 25 4 1,259,841 1,217,659 1,172,452 1,248,967 1,214,745
Per share basis DA Rt 51
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share B3R R#EE (B548) /A1 HK$(0.11)  HKS0.02 HK$0.15 HK$0.18  HK$0.11

YANGTZEKIANG GARMENT LIMITED &L R &4 B4
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
hFEHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(A& T

Note to the five year summary:

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the amendments to
HKFRS 9, Prepayment features with negative compensation, from 1 April 2018. As a
result, the Group has changed its accounting policies in relation to financial instruments.
As allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated information relating to prior years.
Differences in the carrying amounts of the financial assets resulting from the adoption
of HKFRS 9 were recognised in retained earnings and reserves at 1 April 2018. There
was no difference in the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities. Prior to 1 April 2018,
figures were stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

A B R

AL A = F— VEH — B R A e
SEOUE > B Eh T BT 7 B A E I SEORR I B RT
A HAA B MR 2 SRR SRR e L AR EA
B < Pl T L IR B RO oy 0 A U S o R LS 09
BT AT A S NI A O A AR A BB o BR T B
5 ot Y ) 55 O A A WY <l DR (L 2B LR — T — N\
AR T — FO PR B ) R A R o < R R T
A e R o — T — \EPH — BT > BRI
B 8 T B 2 51 -
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